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ASHFORD INVESTOR (GENERAL PARTNER) LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

The directors present their annual report and the audited financial statetnents for the year ended 31 December 2022.

This report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to companies subject to FRS 102 Section 1A
- Small Entities.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principa] activity of the Ashford Investor (General Partner) Limited (the Company™) is to act.as the General Pariner
for The Ashford Investor Limited Partnership (“the Limited Parnership”), 2 limited, partnership registered in Englaiid
and Wales in‘accordance withthié Limited Partnetship Act 1907, The Limited Partnership’s principal activity is'the
business of acquiring, developing, managing and holding the McArthurglen Ashford Designer Outlet Centre for
investrhent purposes.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Company made a profit of £142,333 before taxation for'the period (2021: loss of £17,268):
The directors have paid dividend of £nil during the year (2021: £nil).

REVIEW OF BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

Thé directors consider that the results of the Company are satisfactory. The Company ‘will continue to act as the General
Partner for The Ashford Investor Limited Partriership for the foresgeable future.

The directors consider that the Company will, continue to perform its principal activity for the foreseeable future. The
directors will monitor the imipacts of the macroeconomic fisks currently facing the Company, due to the conflict in
Ukraine as well as inﬂgtionar_y.prices, and will take appropriate‘ action as necessary to ensure.the Company continues to
operaté as a going concemn:

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

There have been no material events arising from the activities of the Company from 31 Deceinber 2022 to the date of
approvil of the annual accounts.

GOING CONCERN

Management considers that the Company will coritinue as a going concern: over the going concern review period, that
runs ffom the date of approval of the year ended 31 December 2022 financial statements until 31 December 2024. This
assumes that the Cornpany. will be able to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due for the foreseeable future. As at
31 December 2022, the Company is in a net asset-position of £153,392 (2021 net-assets: £27,565) and the Limited
Partnership is in a positive net asset position of £89,998,057 (2021: £98,755,679).

Management have prepared forecast base cashflows for the Company for the: zoing ¢oncern period. The basis for the
Company's forecasted operational expenses was the Company’s current fees, along with an appropriate inflationary’
increase throughout the going concern period. Thé cashflows for the Company are predictable given the nature of the
entity’s operations and as such, management consider these assumiptions to be appropriate for the assessment. Based on
this forecast, management noted that'the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future: '

On 23 May 2022, the Limited Partnership refinanced its existing loan with Bayerische Landesbank for a total amount of
£103,500,000, for which the General Partner acted 4s a guararitor as per the terms of the bank loan agreement. This loan
facility is due to expire on 23 May 2027, outside the going concern reéview period.
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ASHFORD INVESTOR (GENERAL PARTNER) LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

bruary:2022; Russia invaded Ukraine: The ongoing war has led to inflationary pressurés, increasing interest
tates, slowdowi in-economic growth, as well as supply'chain disiuptions. This has:haturally had an‘adverse‘impact on
both UK biisinésses and consuiniers and ¢an ledd to, préssures. on the petformance of the McArthurGlen Ashford
Qesi_gn_e,r Quilet Centre, as well as on the turnover of the brands in the Centre. Based on latest sales.results and key
performance indicators, such as footfall and average spend per-visitor, the Centre i$ tradirig ahedd of the financial year
efided. 31 Deceinber 2022, Management have consideréd the specific inipact of these everits o the Ceritre and do niot.
‘believe that they have led to a significant impact on the Limited Partnership’s sales, nor on the turnover of its brand
parfners. Given:that the conflict is ongoing at the date of approval of'these financial statements, there rémains a lével of
unpredictability, and thérefore hanagemeiit will continue to miotitor the sitiation closely to determine if there.is any
ih‘)‘pact of the-conflict on the future viability of the Limited ‘Partnership, taking necessary steps to.mitigate these effects
proactively.

Management prepared a base cash flow forecast forthe Limited Partnership for the going concemn period. The forecasted
figures until the end of 2023 were'based on the approved budget, whilst 2024 figures wete based ofi the estimiated profit
and loss ‘figures incliided as pait of an ovérall 10 year plan preparéd by managenient. This assurhes ani increased total
income by the end 0f:2024 compared.to 2023 by 10.2% as well a projected increase in net operatmc profit by.30.9%.
Based. on this forecast, management noted that the Partnership will generate. positive cash flows arid will not breach any
‘barik coveriants. dufing thé goirig ¢oncern review petiod.

Under the terms of the bank loan agreement’in place for the Partnership, it must comply with a Historical Interest Cover
ratio covenant throughout the loan term and up until the loan maturity date. As at the signing date of the financial
statements of the Partnership, no breach in the Historical Interest Cover fatio loan covenant.on the bank 16an facility has
occiirred, and ‘management’s base cashflow forecast indicates that there are no covenant breaches in the forecasted
cashflows over the going concern review period. However, after applying sensitivities to this base forecast, management
notes that the Partnership may breach the Historical Interest Cover fatio loan covenant for the quaters énding Match
2024 to December 2024. The key downside serisitivities applied in this forecast are to align income and expenditure. for
the forecasted period to December2023 and for the year to December 2024-to be in line with the- year ended 2022, and
therefore no rental income growth is assumed. The downside sensitivity also applies a worst case inflationary rate to
expenditure.

Management has also received-an external valuation for the McArthurGlen- Ashford Designer-Qutlet Centre that notés
the fair-value of the outlet centre to be £226,800,000 (2021: £225,400,000) 45 at 31 Decémber 2022, a 0.6% increase in
value;ffom 31 December 202 1. Based. on the sarrie, there are no Loan-to-Value (“LTV").covenant breaches in.the
-forecasted cashflows over the going concern. review period, with this valuation being management’s best estimate of the.
fair, value of the 'McArthurGi_eh Ashford Designer Outlet Centre as at the date of signing.of these firiancial statements.

‘Based.on the above, given that the Coripany is an obligor on the:Partnership’s bank loan and so its assefs are included as
part of the security for'the financing, management has- ldentlﬁed the following material uncertainty with respectto the
going concern assumption arising from the:downside sensitivity analysis:
1. The Qualifying Pattnership’s forecast compliaricé with the Historical Interest Cover ratio covenant related to its
bank debt secured against the assets of the Qualifying Partnership and General Partner; including the McArthurGlen
Ashford Designer Outlet Centre, caused by uncertainty associated with the future trading performance as.a result of
macro+economic factors:
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ASHFORD INVESTOR (GENERAL PARTNER) LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

The:dforémentioned- condition constitites-a;material uncertainty that may-cast. swmﬁcant doubt upon the- ablhty of the
Conipany to continue as 4. going concetn. Going forward, management will <Conitinue to foutinely monitor the Quallfymg
Partniership”s cashflow position and if necessary, will curtail any discretionaty expenditures which are:not Comimitted to
over the gomg concern review-period, such, as non-essential capltal expenditure, asset management initiatives,.and
discretioniary-marketing expenditure. Management also believe that fundmg calls can be made.to investors in scenarios
where cash is required. Furthermore, if-any challenges arise in meetm_g_ the loan covenants, mandgemeéiit believe that;
there would be potential to seek waiver letters, given the existing relationship in place. with the bank. Management
therefore have i redsoriablé éxpectatioh that the Qualifying Partnership will be ablg toroperate in line with the base case
cash flow scenario and continue its operations for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, tnanagément believe that it is
appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a.going concem basis. The-financial statements do not reflect any
adjustments that would be required should the. Company be unable to continue:as a going,concern,

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The directors who served and resigned:thioughout theyéar-ahd since the year eiid afe as follows:
T GKidd (Resigned 13 January 2022)

N JL Parsotis

‘M J Lawrence

C'S Hargreave:

S ] Johnston

STRATEGIC REPORT

The financial statements haye been- prcpared in accordance with the special provisions applicable to ¢ompanies subject
to the small companies regime. The Company has taken the exemption under-section 414B of the’Companies Act 2006
for the requirémients to prepare a. Strategic Report fof thi¢ finaricial périad.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITORS

Each of'the.pérsons whio is a director:at'the date of approval of the report confirms that:
» so far as the director is aware, there is'no rélevant audit inforimation of which the.Company’s auditors aré unawire;,
and
» the-directorifias-taken all steps that he/she Gught to have taken as a-director:in order to make himself/herself aware.of
any relevant-audit information did to establish that'thie Conipany’s atiditors ate aware of that iriformation.

This confirmafion is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies. Act
2006.
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ASHFEORD INVESTOR (GENERAL PARTNER) LIMITED

‘DIRECTORS* REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITORS

In:accordancewith's:485 of the Companies Ac

2006; a resolufion is to'be proposed atithe Board Meeting foi-
Teappoirtmert:of

Ertist & Youhg LLP asauditor of the Company..

The financial. statements have been.prepared in accordarice with the §pecial provisions rélating to the siiall companies
Fegime.

Approvédibythe'Bodrd of Directors:and signed on betialf of the Board by

7——DocuSigned §y:
’ /063FB5899802413...

S Johnstoni
Ditéctor:

Date: 20;Decembei 2023
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The-directors are responsible_for, preparitig the! Aniual Réportiand the finanicial statements in-accordance with applicable
law and regulations:

‘Comipany law fequires the.directors to prepare financia} statements for each financial year, Under that law the directors
have elected to prepare the finangial statemenits in‘accordance with United Kingdor Generally Accepted Accouriting
‘Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicablellaw), inciuding Financial Reporting Standard, 102
«("FRS 102"), *The Financial Repoiting Standard applicable:in the UK and Repubhc of Ireland’. Under. company law-the
directors must not approve the financial statenieiits unless théy are satisfied that they give a true ‘and fair view of the state-
of affairs of, the'company:and of the profit or.loss of the company for that-period. In preparing these financial statemenits,
the directors aré fequired to:

. selec’t suit’able accounling pdlic‘ies ‘in accordance with Secﬁon 10 of FRS ‘1'02» and then apply them corsistently;

. pro,vxdeeaddltlonal disclosures when comphance thh spemﬁc req_uxrements in FRS 102.is insufficiert to enable.
users-to, understand the‘impact of particular-fransactions, other events and coriditions orf the. companiy finanicial
position- and financial performance;

« in respect of the company financial statements; state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards; included FRS
102, havi been folloived, subjéct to any materidl depaitutes disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

» prepare the financial staternents on.the going.concern basis unless it is appropriate to presuiri¢ that the corhpany will
not continue in business.

‘The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that aré sufficieit to. show: and.expldin the
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time that the financial statements comply with the
Comparies Aet 2006. The directors are-also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the. .company and hence for taking
‘reasonable steps.for the; prevention and detection of fraud and otherifregularities.

‘Under applicable law and regulations, the directors are also responsible forpreparing a directors report that comply-with
that 1aw* and-those regulations. The directors ate responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and
financial jnformation included on the company’s website.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS. OF ASHFORD INVESTOR (GENERAL PARTNER)
LIMITED

Opinion’

We have audited the finaricial'statements of Ashford. Investor{General Pariner) Limited (the ‘company’). for, the.yeaf erided 31
December:2022 which comprise-the Statement of Comprehensive Incone, the Statefient of Changes i Equity, the:Balarice Sheet,
and the felated:notes 1°to 11, including a sumihiaty. 6t sighificant accourititig policies The financial reporting framework that has
beer applied in their preparation is-applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards including FRS 102:*The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK'and Repuiblic of: Ireland”(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accountirig Practice).

In our opifiion the finantial:staterhents:;

> igiveia truetand fairview of the:company?saffairs as at 31 December-2022 and of its profit.fofthe. yéar then ended;
¥ have been propetly:prépired in-dcéétdance with United Kingdotn Genetally Actepted Accounting Pracice; and
> ‘have been prepared;in.accordance with the requirements ofthe Companies Act 2006;

Basis for dpinion:

We condiicted ouf auditin, accordance with Thternafional Standards on' Auditing (UK). (ISAs (UK)) and apphcable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are furtherdescribed in the Auditor’s: reSpon51b|11t1es for the aiidit of the financial
statements section. of our tépoit. We dare mdepcndent of the® gormpany in accofdance with the ethical requirements:that are relevant
t6;6ut aidit of the:financial statenieiits in the. UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard.and the-: provmons available for small
€fttities, in the-circumstances set out in.note | to ‘the financial statements,.and we have fulfilled our ofhier ethical tésponsibilities in

accordance with these requirements,

We believe that the.dudit evidence we havé obtained is sufficiefit:and appropite. to provide a basis: for our opinion.

Material uncertainty relating to going concern

We draw attention to Note' 1 ‘in‘the financial siatemenis that disclose maferial uncertainty-about the Company’s ability'to.cofitiriié
asa gomg concern: The material; uncertamty rélates to the Compaiiy beirig a giiarantor to the bank. debt tield by the Limited.
Partnershlp The Liitited Partnership’s forecast breach of the Historical Interest Cover covenant related to its bank debt secured.
Against the:assets of the Limited Parmership and General Partner, ‘including the McArthurGlen Ashford Designgf Oiitlet Centre,
caused by the sensitivity analysis performed to address-the uncertainty associated with the funire trading performarice as a result
of macro-economic factors.. -

As stated in Note 1, these events or-conditions, dlong with the other-matters as set forth in.ngte {, iridicate that a material
uncertainty-exists that may cast significant doubt.on the Company’s ability to continié as 1 going coricein. Our opiiiion is ot
médif'ied iri 'respec”r of thi$ fitattér.

preparallon of: the financial statemems is appropnate

Ourresponsibilities and the responsibilities of ‘the Directot’s with respéct'to going concerti are deséribed in the releévant sections
of this: reporL Howévet, becaise:not dll futufe événts or conditions cdn be predlcted this; statement is not:a guarqntce as to the'
Compaiiy’s ability to continue a5 a going-concern.
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ASHFORD INVESTOR (GENERAL PARTNER) LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ASHFORD INVESTOR (GENERAL PARTNER)
LIMITED (CONTINUED)

Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the fifiancial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon. The directors. are responsible for the other information contained- within the annual report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except ta the extent otherwise explicitly stated
in this report, we do riot express any foim of assurance conclusion thereon.

Ourresponsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other‘information’is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If we ideiitify such material inconsisténcies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether this gives to a material missfatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we:
conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other:matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

» the information given in the directors’ report for the financial yeéar for which the financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements; and

» the directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have
not identified material misstatements in the directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to rcport to
you'if, in our opinion:
« adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not.
visited by us; or
» the financial statements are pot in agreement with the accounting records and returns: or
» certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
+ we have not received all the information and explanations-we require. fot our audit; or
« the directors were not entitled to prepare the financial statements in.accordance with. the small companies’ regime and take
advantage of the small companies” exemptions in preparing the directors’ report-and from the requirement to prepare a strategic
report.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 6, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statenients and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,,
whether due to fraud or error, ‘

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to.continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, riatters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directars either intend to liquidate the' company or to cease operdtions, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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ASHFORD INVESTOR.(GENERAL PARTNER) LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ASHFORD INVESTOR.(GENERAL PARTNER)
LIMITED (CONTINUED)

Aiiditor’s responsibilities for the zudit of the financial statements

Our objectivés aré to obtaiii reasondble assurance abéut whether the financial statements as.a whole are fiee- from material
misstatement; whether due fo fraud ‘or error, and'to issue an auditor’s report that includes-our opinion. Reasonablé assuranice is a
high leve] of assurance, but is not a guarantee thatan audit coriduicted in.accordance with [SAs (UK) will always detect:a material
misstatement when it éxists. Misstatements can arise frori fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in.the
agpregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic; decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements,

Explanation.as to what extent fhe audit'was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

liregularitiés, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined abave, fo detect irregularities, including fraud. The risk of not. detectinig a material fhisstatemnent diie to
fraud is higher than the risk of not. detecting one resuiting from ertor, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for
example, forgery or intentional rmsrepresentauons or'thfough collusion The extent to which our procedures are capable of
detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below, However, the primary responsibility for the: prevention and detection 6"
fraud rests with both those charged with governance of the enitity anid management.

Out-approach was as follows:

* We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the company and determined that
the most significant are: (1) those that directly affect the financial staternents, in particular the firdncial reporting framework
(including related companies legislation),and any relévarit directand indirect tak compliance regulation in the United Kingdom;
afid (2) those that. mdxre,ctly affect the financial statements where non-compliance would have a material effect on the finafcial
statements.
+'We.understood how the company is complyirig With those frameworks through inquiry with management, in particular those
responsible for regulatoty and legal compliance, and by idqn'tifying(t_hg: enjity’s policies and procedures regarding compliance
with laws and regulation, We corroborated our inquiries through:

* Inquiring of management and those cbarged with governance regarding their knowledge of any'non-compliaiicé ot potential

non-compliance with Jaws and regulations that could affect the finaricial staternerits;

o Reading minutes of Board meetings and other meetings of those charged with governance as-well as validating how policies

and procedures in these areas are communicated and monitored:

» Reading correspondence fromi legal and regulatory bodies and reviewing legal expenses incurred;

= Considering the results of our other-audit procedures to cither-corroboraté of provide contrary evidetice.
« We assessed the s"usdeptibiii;y ofthe companty's financial statements to material misstatement, including how fraud might occur,
in particular (1) the risk that management may be'in a pos’jtion to 'make inappropriate accounting entries and (2) the risk of
inappropriate investment income recognition.

Oui fraud risk assessment included enquiring of management, and ‘inspection of documentation, as to the Company’s policies and
procedures to prevent and detect fraud, as well as to whether they have any knowledge of suspécted or alleged fraud together with
reading Board minutes and using analytical procedutes to identify unusual or unexpected relationships in the financial
informatiorn.
‘Our procedures in respect of identified fraud risks included:

¢ Testing.revenue recognition using test of details;

« Challenging, and using specialists where appropriate, the methods and key inputs into key estimates;

s Journal entry testing, with a focus on unusual entries or transactions based on our understanding of the business, in¢luding

post year-end closing Joqmals y
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ASHFORD INVESTOR (GENERAL PARTNER)
LIMITED (CONTINUED)

A-further description of our Tesponsibilities: for the:audit of the fi nancial statemeiits, is located:oni the
Financial Repoiting Council’s website.at https://ivww.frc.org, .uk/auditorsresponsibilities; This description-forms part of our
auditor’s report.

Use of ouF réport

This repott is made so]ely 16 the éoripany’s members as a body, in-accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the: Compames Act.
2006. ‘Our-audit work’has'been undertaker 5o that we fnight state to.the Compary's rigfibérs those-mattérs-we are:required to
state to them-in an;audifor’s report:and for no other’ purpose:, To the fitllest extent permitted by law we do ot aecept OF assumé
respon51b1hty t6 anyone other than theé company and the: company’s members:as-a’body, for our, audlt work;-for this:report, orfor
the opinions we have formed.

e

‘David Wilson (Senior statutory-auditor)
forand on behalf of Emst & Y‘oﬁu‘ng LLP, Statitory:Auditot
Loadon
Date: 21, December 2073

10
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’ ASHFORD.INVESTOR (GENERAL PARTNER), LIMITED.

STATEMENT, OF-COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For, the yedr éndéd 31 Décember2022

2022 2021
Notes £ £
Hicome: from investients 155,000 L

Adrinistrative expenses: {15,929) {17.238)

OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) 139,071 (17,238)
Intefestfecéivableand similar;income: 3382 -

Interest payable and similar charges 120y B0

PROEIT/(LOSS) ON ORDINARY-ACTIVITIES

BEFORE TAXATION Z 142:333 {(17,2683)

Tax.on profit/{loss) on ordinary.activities: 3 (16,506) ) 228

PROFIT/(LOSS). ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES. AFTER TAXATION

‘BEING TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FORTHE YEAR 125,827 (17,040)

Al results are derived:from continuing.operations ifi the Uhiited Kingdori.

‘The:hotes on pages 4 o/ 20 form an_integral part of the finangial.statements:.

11
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ASHFORD INVESTOR{{GENERAL PARTNER) LIMITED

‘BALANCE SHEET’
31.December 2022

} 2022 2021
Note £ &
FIXED ASSETS
Investments. 4 1,000 1,000,
CURRENT ASSETS
Debtorsamounts due-within one.year s 175 15
Debtors::aniounts dueafter:ifiore than one year 5 - 1,480.
Cash atbank.and in hand 491,381 69,041
491,556 70,696°
CREDITORS: amounts falling due within.one year 6 (339.064)  (44,131)
NET ASSETS. 153,392 27,565
‘CAPITAL AND.RESERVES
Cilled.up share capital 7 1,000 1,000
Profit and loss'accourt: 152,392 26.565
SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS. 153,392 27,565

These financiil statements.iavé béen.prépared.in accordance-with the special. provisions relating to. the srall coriipanies
regime:

These fitiaricial stitefriénts weré approved byithe Board of Directors and-authorised:for, issue on:20 Deceiiiber:2023; and:
are signed.on behalfiof the Board of Difectors by

~~—DocuSigned by’
P /( b /e 5
- 063FB5609502413:..
S:Johnston
Director,

Company’Registration No. 4139737

The notes-on pages 14 to'20 form an integral part of the. finartial staterients.
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ASHFORD INVESTOR:(GENERAL PARTNER) LIMITED.

STATEMENT 'QF'CHANGES IN EQUITY
Fot thie yeat énided 31 Decéimber' 2022

Partners” Partners”
capital current Total

qecounts ACCOUNLS.
S £ £

- Bilarice as-dt:31 Decéiiiber'2020 4,000. 43,605 44,605!

“Total:comprehénsive loss for-theyear (17,040). (17,040).

Balanée as.at 31 Déceniber2021 1;000° 26,565 27,565

“Total:icomprehensive:income for the year # 125827 125,827

‘Balaiice 25.at 31 December:2022 1,000 152,392, 153392
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ASHFORD INVESTOR (GENERAL PARTNER) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
‘Basis. of accounts preparation
The findncial statements have been prepared in accordaiice with applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards.
‘The financial statements are prepared in Sterling which is the functional and presentation currency of the Company
and rounded to. the riearest £.

Statemeént of compliance

Astiford Investor (General Partner) Limited (“the Company”) is a private company limited by shafes registered in
England & Wales, United Kingdom. Its registered office is 103 Wigmore Street, Nations House, 3rd Floor, London,
England, W1U 1QS.

‘The financial statemients have been prepared in compliance with the provisions.of FRS 102 Section LA for sirall
entities. The particular accounting policies adopted are described below. They have all been applied consistently
throughout the current period and the preceding year.

Cash flow
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption available to small companies under FRS 102 and has not,
prepared a cash flow statement.

Going concern

'Management considers: that the Company will continue as a going concern aver the going concern review period that
Tuns from the date of approval of the year ended 31 December 2022 financial statements until 31 December 2024
This assiimes that the Company will be able to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due for the foreseeable
future. As.at 31 December 2022, the Company is in a net asset position of £153,392 (2021 net assets: £27,565) and
'the Limited Partnership is in a.positive net asset position of £89,998,057 (2021: £98,755,679).

Management have prepared forecast base cashflows-for the Company for the going concern period. The basis for the
Cormnpany’s forecasted operational expenses was the Company’s current {ees, along with an appropriate inflationary
increase throughout the going concern period. The cashflows for the Company are predictable given the nature of
the entity’s operations and as such, management consider, these assumptigns to be appropriate for the assessment.
Based 6n this forecast, management noted that the Company has-adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future.

©On 23 May 2022, the Limited Partnership refinanced its existing loan with Bayerische Landesbank for a total
amount of £103,500,000, fot which the Gereral Partner acted as a guarantor as per the terms of the bank loan
.agreement. This loan facility is due to expire on 23 May 2027, outside the going concern review period.

On 24 February 2022; Russia invaded Ukraine. The ongoing war has led to inflationary pressures, increasing interest
rates, slowdown in economic growth, as well as supply chain disruptions. This has natura]ly had an adverse impact
‘on both UK businessés and consumers and ¢an lead to pressures on the performance of the McArthutGlen Ashford
Designer-Outlet Centre, as well as on the turnover of the brands in the Centre. Based on latest sales results and key
performance indicators, such as footfall and average spend per visitor, the Centre is trading dhead of the financial
year ended 31 December 2022. Manageiment have considered the specific impact of these eveits on thé Centre.and
do riof believe that they have led o a significant impact on the Limited Parinership’s sales, nor on the turnover of its
brand partners. Given that the conflict is ongoing at the date of approval of these financial statements, there remains
a level of unprédictability, and therefore management will continue to monitor the situation closely to deterimine if
there.is any impact of the conflict on the future viability of the Limited Partnership, taking necessary steps to
‘mitigate these effects proactively.
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ASHFORD INVESTOR (GENERAL PARTNER) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

L

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Going concérn (continued)

Manageiment preparéd a base cash flow forecast for the Limited Partnership, for'the going concern period. The
forecasted:figires until the end of 2023 were based on the approved budget, whilst 2024 figures were based on the
estimated proﬁt and loss figures included as part of an overall 10 year plan prepared by 1 management This assumes
an increased total in¢ome by the end of 2024 compared to 2023 by [0.2% as well a projected inicrease in net
operatirig profit by.30.9%. Based on this forecast, management noted that the Partnership will generate positive cash
flows and will not breach any bank covenants during the going concern review period.

Under the terms of the bark loan agreement in place for the Partriership, it must coinply with a Historical Interest
Cover ratio covetiant thiroughout the loan térr and up until the loan maturity date. As at the signing date of the
financial statements.of‘the Partnership, no breach in the Historical Interest Cover ratio loan covenant on the bank
loan facilify has occurred, and management’s base cashflow forecast indicates that there are no. covenant breaches in
the forecasted castiflows over the going concein review period. However, after applying sénsitivities to this base
forecast, indnagement notes. that.the Paithership may breach the Historical Interest Cover ratio loan covenant for the
quarfers:ending March 2024 to December 2024. The key downside sensitivities applied in this forecast are to align
income and expenditure for the forecasted period to December 2023 and for the yearto December 2024 to be in ling

‘with the year ended 2022, and theréfore no réntal income growth is assuined. The downside sensitivity also applies.

a worst case inflationary rate to expenditure.

Management ha; also received an external valuation for the McArthurGlen Ashford Designer Ouitiet Centre that
notes the fair value of the outlét centre to be £226,800,000 (2021 £225,400,000) as at 31 December 2022, 2 0.6%,
incréase, in value from 31 Deceriber 2021. Based on the.same, there are no Loan-to-Value (“LTV*) covenant

‘breaches-in the forecasted cashflows over the going concem review period, with this valuation being management's

best estimate of the fair value of the McArthurGlen Ashford Designer Outlet Centre as at the date of signing of these
financial statemefits.

Based on the above, given that the Company is an obligor on the Partnership’s bank loan and so its assets are
included as part of the security for the financing, management has identified the following material uncertainty with

ZI€spect to the going concern assumptior arising from the downside sensitivity analysis:

1. The Qualifying Partnership’s forecast compliance with the Historical Interest Cover ratio covenant related o its
bank debt secured against the assets of the Qualifying Partnership and General Partner, including the
McArthurGlen Ashford Designer Outlet Centre, caused by uncertainty associated-with the future trading
performance as a result of macro-economic factors;
The aforementioned condition constitutes a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt upon the ability'of
ihe Company to continue as a going concern: Going forward, management will continue to routinely monitor the
Qualifying Partnership’s cashflow position and if necessary, will curtail any discretiondry expenditures which dré
tiot committed to ovet the going ¢oncern review period, such as non-essential capital expenditure, asset management

Initiatives, and dlscrenonary marketing expenditure. Management also believe that funding calls can be. made to

investors in scenarios where cash is required. Furtherinore, if any chailénges arise in ineetinig thié loan covenants,

.managémerit believe that thete would. be potential to seek waiver letters, giver the existing relationship in place with

the bank. Mariageément therefore havea reasonable expectation that the Qualifying Partnership will be able to
operate in line with the base case cash flow scenarip and continue its operations for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, management believe that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statemerits-of a going Concern basis.
The financial statements do not refléét any adjustmerits that would be required should the Compaiy be utiable to

continue as a going concern..

-Significant accounting policies
Investmenfs and investment income

Fixed asset investments are stated at.cost less provisions for any impairment. Investmernt income consists of
distributions received from investments and is recognised when theCompany obtains the right to the distribution.

15
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ASHFORD INVESTOR (GENERAL PARTNER) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
1.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Significant accounting policies.(continued)

Interest receivable and similar income
Interest receivable and similar income includes interest received on funds invested in the Company’s bank account.
[nterest income is recognised in the profit or loss account as it accrues.

Taxation,

Current tax is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that havé been
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. All taxable income is derived from the fixed asset
investment in the Limited Partnership.

Deferred taxation is provided in full on all timing diffeérences that result in an obligation at the balancé sheet date to
‘pay more tax or a right to pay less tax, at a future date, at ratés expected to apply in the periods in which timing
differences reverse, based on:tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Timing
differences atise from the inclusion of items of income and expenditure in taxation computations in periods different
from those in which they are included if the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is regarded as more likely than not that they will be recovered.
Déferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

Management estimation is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based
upoii likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with an assessment of the effect of future tax planning
strategies. Further details are contained in note 3.

Deferred tax liabilities are presented within provisions for liabilities and deferred tax assets'within debtors. Deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if;

« the Company has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities, and

s the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which iritend either to settle currerit tax liabilities and assets
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the, liabilities simultaneously:

Trade and other debtors / creditors

Trade and other debtors are recognised .initially at transaction price less attributable transaction costs. Trade and
other creditors are recognised initially at transaction price plus attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less @y impairment losses in the
‘case of trade debtors. If the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, for example if payment is deferred
beyond normal business terms, then it is measuréd at the present value of future payments discounted at a market rate
of instrument for a similar debt instrument.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and in hand and short-term deposits with an
'original maturity date of three months or less.

Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the finaricial statemerits requires management to make judgements, estimates arid assumptions
that affect the amounts reported for assets and Habilities as at the balance sheet.date and the amounts reported for
turnover and expenses during the year. However; the nature of estimation means that actual outcomes could differ
from those estimates. In the event such estimates and assumiptions, which are based on the best judgement of the
directors as at the balance sheet date, deviate from the actual circumstances in the future the original estimates and
assumptions will be modified as appropriate in the year in which the circumstances change.

16
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NOTES TO THEFINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

1:

ACCOUNTING POLICIES(GONTINUED)
Significant-accounting policies (continued)

Judgemeiits and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

‘The estiniates.and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an: ongomg ‘basis. Revision to accounting estimates-are

recognised iin-the:period in;whi
‘the revision and-future periods:if

Auditor’s remuneration:

Fees:payable‘to auditors foraudit.of Company’s annual accounts,

Non-audit tax compliangce fees paid to'thesauditor

No staff were employed by the Company during the:period (2021: nil)-.
t-undertakings for-which fio feffiurieration. relates to; :thie Conpariy. The level,
14 servxces of the dlrectors of thie Company is.considered to_ be mcxdental and; neghoxble compared to: the

Currentitax:
‘Cufrént cotporation taxicharge/(credit)

Adjustments relatingto prior-years.

Deferred:tax:
Tax losses utilised:in theperiod

Efféctof change in-tax rate on:deferred fax balances

Adjustmieénits Felating to riof yeafs.

Total tax charge/(credit) for the:year

"Thete aretiosignificant jiidgements or, ¢stimations for the.Company.

'PROFI‘I‘?(LGSS’) ON GRDTNA'KY ACT'I’VIT'I“!’-‘:"S‘« BE«F(‘)R"E? T‘KX&T'I‘G’N

i7

1-the estimaie is revised if the revision affects only | that period: or:in the'period.of
‘the revision.affects both current-and future penods

2022, 2021
Ex £
17067 13;695
3:649 3,543

2022 2021
£ £,
15,026 2,868
1.830 (2.868).
= 228
(350) -
16:506: 228
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ASHFORD INVESTOR (GENERAL PARTNER) LIMITED

NOTES TO'THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
3. TAXATION (CONTINUED)
b)  Factors affecting the currenttax charge/ (credit) for: the period

‘The:tax assessed for the period is different.from the standard rate of corporation tax in:the UK of 19% (2021 19%).
The differences are:

2022 2021
£ £
Profit/(loss) on; ordinary activities beforeitax _ 142,333 (17,268)
‘Prafit/(loss) on otdiiiary activities niultipliéd by the standatd-raté of 57 043 S
‘corporation tax.in the UK of 19% (2021:19%) e 3280
Effect of:
‘Share of Limited Partnership, profits 19,466 12,301
Incomeé not:subjeét to tax: (30,093) 3
Adjustments relating to prior years (350) (6,152)
Effect'of change in tax rate on:deferred tax balances (1,390) 228
Tax-losses utilised in the period 14830 (2,868)
Total tax-charge/(credit) for the:year 16,506 228

©) Factorsaffecfing future tax charge

On’5 March 2021; the Chancellor announced-that the:corporation tax rate will increaserto 25% in the UK for
finaricial years.from { April 2023. There have been no fitther chianggs sincé this announcement. The iricrease will
be factored.into the tax charge in the finangial statements for the year ended 31 Deceriiber 2023 accordingly. Thete
is no directimpact for the financial statements for the year ended 3'1 December 2022:

d) Deferred tax

No deferred tax:asset’balance has been recognised as the Company has fully utilised its avaitable dccumulated losses
agdinst the cq;gc.n"t year taxable profit; As:a result-the Company has oo tax losses arising in the UK (2021 £5,914) {o
éarry forward to offset-against-future taxable profits of the.Company. Refer to Note.5 for more information..

‘The deferred tax included in the:balancesheet is asfollows:

2022 2021

£ £

Debtors; amounts dug.in more than.one year.(Note 5) - 1,480
2022 2021,

£ £

As .t | January. . 4,480 5,052
Tax losses utilised in the period (1,830) (2.868)
Efféctof change in tax rate on defetred tax balances: = 228
Othér movements 350 932)
As at.31 December < 1,480
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ASHFORD INVESTOR (GENERAL.PARTNER), LIMITED.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4

which was-established under 4 Limited Partagrship,Deed dated 28 March: 2001, as amended a

INVESTMENTS.

2022 2021
£_ £

‘Cost
Irvestiiient iti The Ashford Iivestar Limited Partriérship 1,000 1,000
Net'book value 1000 ‘1,000

s Ashiford Investor:Limited Partrership representsaa 1% holdmv in.the Limited Partnership;.
festated.on 26
Septeraber201'1 and-22 February2017. Thie Limited Partnership is:registeted in England and: Wales and its'principal
place of businéss is the United ] ngdom. The principal; acnvxty of The Ashford.Investor Limited Partnership is to
Hold and manage the! ‘McArthirGlen Ashford; Designet Outlet Ceiitte.

“The.investment i Th

DEBTORS
2022 2021
£ £
Amounts ddewithin oneé year:
VAT'recoverable: 175 175
Cotporatioitax. - -
175, . 1715
2022 2021
£ &
Amniounts-dise’in morethan oné year:
Deferred tax asset - 1,480
' ' s 1,480
Movéinent in.thé deferred-tax asset is recognised.in Note 3:
‘CREDITORS:
2022 2021
& £
-Amounts due within.one year:
Trade creditois " 16,896
Amounts owed to Ashford Investor Limited Partnership 797,573 11,945
Acerals: 26385 15,290,
Corporation tax: 15,026; -
-Afiouiits owed to McAsthirGleh UK Litnited ] 180 -
) 339,164 43,131

Amounts-owed to The Ashford Tivestor'Lirited Partneiship dre unsecured intéfest:fiee and ?é;iayablé: o defriaiid:.

Partnership would be révised from £1 1,945 to £23,993‘, trade creditorswould be;ev,xsedfr.om £IQ.896 to. £nrll add
accruals; would be:revised-from £15290 to £20,138. The overall:creditors-total:remains unchanged.
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NOTES TO. THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

7.

10..

11,

CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL
2022 2021
£ £
Authorised:
1,000 ordinaiy shares.of £1 each. 1,000: 1,000
Called up, allofted and fully paid:
1,000 ordinary shares of £1 each . 1,000 1,000

All shares were issued at par; and cash consideration was received.

COMMITMENTS
The Company has provided.a giiarantee in respect of the £1.03,500,000 bank loan facility with Bayerische
Landesbank held by The Ashfoid Investor Gimited Partnership via a fixed and floating charge o its assets.,

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Coinpany is the General Partaer of The Asliford Irivestor Limited Partnership, in'which it has a, 1%interest.
The share of the Partnérship profit attributable to the General Partner was £63,214 for the financial year-ended 31
December2022-(2021 profit:£30,889). The share of the Partnership current actount attributable to the Gerieral
Partner was £894,773 at 31 December.2022. (20213 £986,559). Distribiitions of £155,000 (2021: £ nil) were paid to
the General Partrier for the financial year-ended 31, December 2022, The Limited, Partnership paid costs of £nil
(2021: £nil) on behalf of the Company for the financial year-gnded 31 December 2022. During the year; the

1Company recewed VAT rcfunds totallmo £264 078 (2021 £402 456) on behalf of the Lmuted Partnershxp At the'

;dtsclosure in ‘the, ﬁnancla] statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 states amounts owed to the Lxmnted
Partnership of £1.1,945;.as-opposed to £23,993 already rhentioned. This was a prior year error. that was not
iconsidered by-mianagement to be materially incoiréct,

At the yéarénd, the Comipany owed £180 (20217 £nil) to McArthurGlen UK Limited.

‘CONTROLLING PARTY

Ovwitiership of thé Compaiiy is shared between the respective-shareholders in their capital rafios and no, party has

‘overall control. The respective sharebolders equity ownership percentages in the Company were as follows during
‘the current and prior financial years-ended:

2022 2021

. %, %

Outlet Site Holdings Sarl 50 50
‘The Royal London Mutual Insurance Society Limited 25 25
Staffordshire County:Council Pension Fund 25 25

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

“There have been no material.events arising from the activities of the Company from'31 Decembér:2022 to the daté 6F
.approval.of the annial accourits..
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THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

STRATEGIC.REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

The Directors of the General Partner. (“Directors™) presént their strategic report of The Ashford Investor Limited
Partnership (the “Partnership” or “LP") for the year from 1 January to 31 December 2022..

REVIEW OF THE PARTNERSHIP’S BUSINESS

The key performance indicatois monitored by the General Parthér include iiet rental income; void unit. levels and
‘p'ropert'y value. Tumover increased by 27% to £19,527,697 (2021: £15,382,086), and rental income has increased by
26.9% to £12;380,795 (2021: £9,754,945). The property’s appraised value at 31 December 2022 was £226,800,000
(2021: £225,400,000). The centre vacancy at 31 December 2022 was 15.5% (2021: 17.1%).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The'key risks faced by the Partnership are broadly grouped as: retail markét fisk, property investmerit market risks,
financial instrument rigk, risk arising from the Ukraine crisis, and risk around rising energy‘prices.

i) Retail market risk

The.General Partner considers that the Partnership’s prinéipal risk is the economic risk inhefent in the diversified retail
market, including fluctuations in consumer spending patterns and from inflation.

Such risks and uncertainties come mainly from the downturn in the cutrent economic envitonment that has been
affecting the wider economy. This risk is being mitigated by the centre having good offers on products and various
events throughout the year to drive footfall into the centre.

i) Property investment market risk

The General Partner recognises that there-is risk associated with the property investment miarket whereby small changes
in property market yields can have a significant effect on the value of the property assets.

“The Partnership manages this risk through an active programme of asset management.
iii) Financial instrument risk

‘The General Partner has considered the risks attached to the Partnership’s financial instruments, which principally
comprise cash, external bank debt as well as:short-term and long-term debtors and creditors. The General Partner has
taken a prudent approzch in its consideration of the various risks attached to the financial instruments of the Limited
Partnership. The Partnership has entered info derivatives (in the form of interest rate swaps) in order to manage and
reduce its exposure to interest rate fluctuations on the bank loan. Furthermiore a letter of suppoit has been received from
each of the Limited Partners confirming that they do not intend to requést repayment of any amounts due to them during
the going concern review period (which includes any of the current accounts outstanding) if it would result in the
Pattnership being unable to meetiits financial liabilities as they fall due.

The General Partner also routinely: monitors compliance with bank covenants. There was no breach of the loan
covenarits during the financial year. The Partnership had an agreement with the lending bank for the waiver of the
Historical Interest Cover Ratio (“ICR") covenant for the period up until 22 February 2022, at'which point the loan was
due to expire. A Second Amendment arid Restatement Deed was entered into on 23 May 2022 by the Parmership with
Bayerische Landesbank, which refinanced this external loan into a new facility totalling £103,500,000 maturing on 23
May 2027;
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THE' ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTINUED),

SECTION {72 STATEMENT (CONTINUED).

Customers :

Thie Partnership:has-veryclose- 'rél'atib’ris’hip§ with.all the tendrits. and customers. Thére is constant open commuiication:

and; feedback on the managementiof the centre to ensure that we.can maintain and provide the highest standards of
pétformance. We ensure thatuwe: operate ethically and fairly with all our clients.

Investors' & 'Corporate Go vernance;

envu'onmental and soc1al performance 'zand, our: appmach to; goveriiance. and Board leadetship. The’ Board mairtain$
constant didlogue with sharéholders and investors onithe govemance of the Partnership, and.provides detailed.
appropriate ard specific infofration to our sharéholders and.ifvestors regularly.

Approved by'the General Partner and signed-on its behalf

DocuS:gned by:
o v

- ‘6635355999024.13...
S .Johnston

Director
Ashford Thvestor(Genéral Rartriér) Limited

Date:.20 Deceriber 2023
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THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

GENERAL PARTNER’S REPORT TO THE PARTNERSHIP

Ashford Investor (General Partner) Lirited (the “General Partner” or "GP") has pleasure in presenting its report on the
operations of The Ashford Investor Limited Partnership for the year ended 31 December 2022 together: with the.audited

financial statements.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY OF THE PARTNERSHIP

The principal activity of the retail ovitlet property centre has remainéd anchanged from previcus years.

Thie Partnership's principal activity is the business of acquiring, developing, managing and holding the McArthurGlen
Ashford Designer Qutlet Centre ("Centre") for investment puqioses. 1 S

RESULTS AND DISTRIBUTIONS
The profit for the year amounted to £6,321,394 (2021: £5,088,899) for the Partnership. The Partiietship made distributions
of.£15,500,000 (2021: £nil) for the yéar.ended 31 December 2022.

GOING CONCERN

Thé General Partner considers that the Partnership will.coritiritie as a going concém over the going concem review period
‘that runs from the date of approval of the year ended 31 December 2022 financial statements until 31 December 2024. This
assumes that the-Partnership will be able to meet its liabilitiés as and whei they fall due for the foréseeable futife. Asat 31
Deéteinber 2022, thére is 4 nét current asset position of £17,336,097°(2021: £18,741,751) and a nef asset position of
£89,998,057(2021: £98,755,679) in the Partnership, which factors in Partners’ loan accounts of £44,302,936 (2021:
£41,081,800): These loans have no fixed repayment dates:and are interest free. The General Partnér has received a letter of
support from.each: of the limited partiiers confirming that they do hot inténd to fequést repayment,of any amounts due to
thern, which includes any of the current accounts outstanding, if it would result in the Parinership being unable to meet its
financial liabilities as they fall due. This support has been given from the date of approval of the Partnership’s financial
statements: through to 31 December 2024,

On 24 February2022, Russia invaded Ukraine. The ongoing war has led to inflationary pressures, increasing interest rates,
slowdown in economic. growth, as well as supply chain disruptions. This has naturally had an adverse impact on both UK.
businesses and consumers arid in the context of the Partiiership, can lead to pressures on Centre performance, as well as on
the tumover of the brards in the Centre. Based on latest sales results and key performance indicators, such as footfall and
average spend per visitor, the- McArthurGlen Ashford Designer Outlet Centre is trading ahéad of the financial year ended 31,
December2022. The General Partiier has considered the specific irfipact of these everits on the McArthurGlei Ashford
Désigner Outlet Ceritre.and does not believe that they Have led 1o a significant impact on the Partnership’s sales, nor on the
turnover of its brand partners. Given that the conflict is ongoing at.the date of apbroval of these financial statements, thete
remains a level of unpredictability, and therefore the Genetal Parther-will coiitinie to monitor the situation closely t&
determine if there is any impact:of the conflict or the future viability of the Partnership taking necessary steps to mitigate
these effects proactively.

The Genetal Partner prepated a base cash flow forecast for the going concem period to support the going concern
assessment. The forecasted figures until the end of 2023, were based on the approved budget; whilst 2024 figures were
‘based on the estimated profit-and loss figures included as part of an overall 10 year plan prepared. by the Geiieral Paitiet:
This assumes an increased total income. by the end of 2024 compared to 2023 by 10.2% as well 4 projected inérease in net
operating profit by 30.9%. Based.on this forecast, the General Partner noted that the Parnership will generate positive cash
flows and will:not bieach any bank covenants during the going concem review period.

On 23 May 2022, the Partnership réfinariced its e‘Xisting' loan with Bayerische Landesbank for a total amount. of
£103,500,000. This loan facility is due to expire on.23 May 2027, oufside the going concern review period.
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THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP.

‘GENERAL PARTNER’S REPORT TO THE PARTNERSHIP (CONTINUED)

GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

Under-the terms of the bank loan agreement, the Partnership must cornply with a Historical Iriterest Cover ratio covenant.
throughout the loan term and up until the loan maturity date. As at the signing date of the financial statements of the
Partnership, no breach in the. Historical Interest Cover ratio loan covenant on the bank loan facility has occurred, and the
General Partner's base cashflow forecast indicates that thefe are ho covenarnt breaches in the forecasted cashflows over the
going concern review period. However, after applying sensitivities to this base forecast, the General Partner notes that the
Partnership may breach the Historical Interest Cover ratio loari covenant for the quarters ending March 2024 to December
2024, The key downside sensitivities applied in this forecast are to align income and expenditure for the forecasted period to
December 2023 and for the year to December 2024 to be in line with the year ended 2022, and therefore no rental income
growth is assumed. The downside setisitivity also applies a worst case inflationary rate to expenditure:

The General Partner has also received an external valuation for the McArthurGlen Ashford Designer Qutlét Centre that
notes the fair value of the outlet centre to be £226,800,000 (2021: £225,400,000) as at 31 December 2022, a 0.6% increase
in value from 31 Decémber 2021. Based on the same, theré aré no Loan-to-Value (“LTV”) covenant bréaches in the
forecasted cashflows over the going concern review period, with this valuation being the General Partner’s best estimate of
the fair value of the McArthurGlen Ashford Designer Outlet Centre as at the date of signing of these financial statements.

Based on the above, the General Partner has identified the following material uncertainty with respect to the Partmership's
going concern assumption arising from the downside sensitivity analysis:
1. The Qualifying Partnership’s forecast compliarice with the Historical Interest Cover ratio covenant related to its bank
debt secured against the assets of the Qualifying Partnership, including the McArthurGlen Ashford Desigher Outlet
Centre, caused by the sensitivity analysis performed to address the uncertainty associated with the future trading
performance as a result of macro-econoinic factors.

The aforementioned condition constitutes a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt upon the ability of the
Partnership to continue as a going concern. Going forward, the General Pattner will continue to toutinely moditor the
Partnership’s cashflow position and if necessary, will curtail any discretionary expenditures which are not committed to
over the going concern réview period, such as non-essential capital expenditure, asset management initiatives, and
discretionary marketing expenditure. The General Partner also believes that funding calls can be made to investors in
scenarios where cash is required. Furthermore if any challenges arise in meeting the loan covenants, the General Partner
believes that there would be potential to seek waiver letters, given the existing relationship in place with the bank. The
General Partner therefore has a reasonable expectation that the Partnership will be able to operate in line with the base case
\cash» flow scenario and continue its operations for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Gerieral Partner believes that it is
appropriate to-prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. The financial statements do not reflect any
adjustments that would be required should the Partnership be unable to continue as a going concein.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Post year end distributions were thade to partners totalling £1,250,000 (paid on 24th March 2023), £1,250,000 (paid on 6th
July 2023), and £1,500,000 (paid on 3rd November 2023). No further distributions were made. post year end up until thé-
date of signing of the financial statements.

PAYMENT POLICY

It is the Parmership’s policy that payments to suppliers for goods and services to the Partnership are made in accordance
with the policies of the management company, McArthurGlen UK Limited, a related party.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

The General Partner considers that the Partnership will continue to perform its principal activity for the foreseeable future.
The General Partner will monitor the impacts of the macroéconomic risks currently facing the Partnership due to the conflict
in Ukraine, rising energy prices and interest rates, as well as the principal risks and uncertainties noted in the Strategic
Report above, dnd will take appropriate action as necessary to ensure the Partnership continues to operate as a going
concem.

‘ {
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‘THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

GENERAL PARTNER’S REPORTTO THE PARTNERSHIP (CONTINUED)

P?A-RTNERS AND PARTNERS’ INTERESTS

Capital  current Loan

e agcounts accounts

£ £ £

Oatlet Ashford Holdings Sarl 49,500: 44,606,904 22281204
The Royal-Londor Mtiral Insutarice Society: Limited 24,750° 22,198,188 11,020,875
Staffordsh:re County Counc1] Pensxon Fund 24,7500 22,198,192 11,000,857
Ashife L 1,000 894,773
Total, __ [00,000° 89,898,057 44.302.936

FINANCIALRISK MANAGEMENT

The Par,tnershlp s activities exposéitito & varlety of fifiaficial fisks: market priceirisk, creditrisk:and liquidity, risk. These:
risks-are inherent ifl the Partiiership's activities but are; nmanaged through a process of: .ongoingiidentification, measuremieiit:
and monitoring; subject fo risk limits and other controls.

The principal financial risksifacing the Partnership are as-follows:
iy Matket price risk
Market pricesrisk is the risk that:the future valué of the iinvestmeit property will fluctuafe due-fo changes in market pnce

sstruiients héld by the Parnership; thiat are ‘affected by market risk.are pringipallythe Panmrshxp §.¢ash
balanices and Bank. botrowings.

The Partnership monitors its interest fite €Xposute G a tegular’basis, Tor mitigate the inferest rate risk that afises as a result
of entering iinto 3 Variabie:tate Toan, the Rartnership: has an:interest:rate-detivativesin place:in the fofm.of'a 3-nionth interest
Fate swap.

ii)Credit isk

that the counterparty(to ‘a financial instrunient) or tenant (ofthe . property):will ca ca

artiiership by failing to meet a commiitment it has entered.in with the Paitnershi 3
[Partnefship’s policy to enter ‘into financial instruments with reputable counterpames Cash dépositsiare placed with
:approved counterparties:

In. the éventofa.defaultby o tebaiit, thel Partership will suffer a rental, shortfall:and additiofial €o§ts Conicernirig Te-letting
‘ . The Partnership | monifors tenant arrears in-order to: anticipaté and mifimise the impact of defaulis:by
‘occupationial tenants:,




THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

GENERAL PARTNER’S REPORT TO THE PARTNERSHIP (CONTINUED)
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

iy Liquidityisk
‘Liquidity risk arises from the Partnership’s management of working capital, the finance charges and principal repayments on
its borrowings. it is the fisk-that the Partnership will encouniter difficulty.in meeting its financial.obligations as they fall due.

‘The.Company’s objective is to ensure it has sufficient available fundsfor its operations and t6 fund-its capitdl expenditure.
“This is achieved by contiriuous-monitoring of forecast and actual cash flows by manageiient.

The-Paithetshiphas entered into derivatives, (in the-form of iriterest fate swapsY in orde to manage:and reduce its exposure
to mterest rate fhictuations.

Furtherinore the General Partner has received a letter of support fromeach of the liniited partnérs Gonfirming that they do
not intend to request répayment of any amounts due to them, which includes any of'the cirrent accounts ottstanding, if it
would resultin the Partnership being unable to meét'its financial liabilities as they fall'due.

INFORMATION TO AUDITORS
The Gengral Partrier.at the date of approval of this report confirms that:
1)so far as it is aware, there is'rio rélevant audit information of which the Partnership's auditors dre unaware; and.
2) edch.of the Directors of the General Pariner-haye taken.all the steps thiey ought t6 have taken to make themselves aware:

.of-any relevant audit infornation ahd to éstablish that the Partnership's auditors are aware, of that inforrmtion.

This confiffhation is giver and should be interpreted in accordance with.the provisions of s418 of the Companies Act 2006
as‘applied to qualifying partnerships.

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP have.expressed their willingness to continue in office.as auditors and a resolution to reappoint them
'will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual Genefal Meeting.

Approved by the General Partner and signed on its behalf

7~ DacisSigned by:
be
N—063FB5699902413..,
S: Johnston
Director

Ashford Tnvestor, (Gerieral Partner) Limited
Date? 20 . December 2023
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“THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

STATEMENT OF GENERAL PARTNER’S:RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT'OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

“The General Patthér is.responsible for preparing the Strategic Report; the:General Partiiét’s Repoit and the:financial statements in
ageordance with ap‘p'licab’l'e"law‘and‘regulatiOns; ) '
Ashford Investor:(General Partner) Lirited, aéting as the General Partner, is responsible under the Limited Parthership
Agreement i ithié Paftnership’ (Accounrs) Regulatlons 2008 (Apphcanon of Compames Act 2006) for prepating financial
stateriienits forgach:financial, .year. Under the Regulations the General Partnét has: glected o preparé;thie finaricial statements-in
accordance with United, Kingdom’ Generally -Aceéptéd Accounting Practice {United Kingdom Accounting Standards arid
applicable:law); mcludmg Financial Répotting Standard 102, ‘TFhe Financial Repomng Standard applicableiin the UK and
Republic 6fIrsland.’ The financial statements are required by law to giveatrue-afid faif view of the state of affairs.of the
Partnershipiand of ikie profit or loss, of the Partnership for that period. IA préparing these financial statements, the General Partnet
is required to;

» select suitabie accountifig policies in accordance with ‘Section 10 of FRS 102 and then apply them onsistently;
«:make:judgments aiid dccountinig;éstiriiates that are reasonable and'prudent;

* provide additional diselosufés when coinpliance with: specific: requirgments in FRS'102 i is insufficiént to enable users to
undérstand the ‘impactof ‘particulariransactions, other-events and conditions on thé company financial posifion and financial
.performance;

«inrespectiof the company financial statements; state whetliet applicable’UK Accounting Standards, included FRS. 102; have
been.followed, subjectto any:material departures discloséd and explained in the financial statements; and

« prepare;thefinancial statements on-thé.going;concern basis unléss it is ;appro_pr’i‘ate;io:Prcsume:ihgt:thg Partnership will fiot
continuein business.
The General Pariner is respon51ble for keepmg adequate accounnng records that are suff c1ent to show and explam the

them to cﬁsure that the manctal statements comply w1th the Compame A t 2006 as apphed to quahfymg partnerships. They are
aiso.tesponsible for, safeguarding the assets of the Partnership and hence:for takirig reasoiabie steps for the” prevention and

deteciion of fraud.and other:irregulatities.




DocuSign Envelope ID: A4571E3B-0256-4302-A4EE-47D2C96BFDAT
THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE PARTNERS OF THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED
PARTNERSHIP

Opiniion

We have audifed the financial statements of The Ashford Investor Limited Partnership (the “qualifying partnership™) for the year
ended 31 December 2022 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Incomie, the Balance Sheet, the Statement of Changes
in Net Assets Attributable to Partners, the Statement of Cash Flows, and thé related notes 1 to 18, including a summary of
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards including FRS 102 “The Fitancial Reporting standard applicable in the UK and
Republic of Ireland™ (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion the financial statémerits:

> give a true and fair view of the state of the qualifying partnership’s affairs as at 31 Decemiber.2022 and of its profit for the
year then ended;

» ‘have been properly prépared.in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

> havebeen prepared in accordance with the.requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as applicd to qualifying partnerships.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described iii the Auditor’s responsibilities. for the audit of the financial
statements Section of our report below. We are independent of the qualifying pattnership inaccordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements ‘in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard,and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements,

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate té provide a basis for our opinion

Material uncertainty relating to going concern

We draw attention to Note 1.3 in the financial statements that discloses a material uncertainty about the Qualifying Partnership’s
ability to continue as a-going concern. The material uncertainty relates to the Qualifying Partnérship’s forecast breach of the
Historical Interest Cover covenant related to its bank debt secured against the assets of the Qualifying Partership and the General
Partner, including the McArthurGlen Ashford Designer Qutlet Centre, caused by the sensitivity analysis performed to address the
uncertainty associated with the future trading performance as a result of macro-economic factors.

As stated in Note 1.3, these events or conditions, along with the othier fattérs-as set forth in note. 1.3, indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Qualifying Partnership's ability to ¢ontinue as a going concemn. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the General Parthér’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in
the prepatatior of thie financial statements is appropriate.

Our responsibilities and.the tesponsibilities of the. General Partner with respect to going concern are described in the felevant
sections of this report, However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is hot a giarantee as
to the Qualifying Partnership’s ability to continue as a going concern.

10
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THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE PARTNERS OF THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED
PARTNERSHIP (CONTINUED)

Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the annual feport; other than the financial statements and our:
auditor’s report thereon. The-General Partiief is fesporisible for the other information contained with the.annual report.

Our opinion on, the financial statemerits does not cover the othief ififormiation and, except to the exient otherwise explicitly stated
.in this report; we:do not éxpreéss any form of as§irance conclusion thereon. '

‘Otir responisibility’is to read the other information and, in doing so, considér-whether the. other inforimation is materially
inconsistent with. the financial statements. or oiir kiiowledge obtained in the course of the audit or.otherwise appears to be:
‘materially-misstated. If we identify such - material inconsistencies or apparerit material misstatements, we are requiréd to detérimine
whether-this gives rise to a'material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based ori the Work we have.
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the othef'inforriation, we are required to report:that fact.

We have. nothing to report in this regard.

Or,iinion on other matters prescribed by the 'Cqm_panie_s'Act-ZQOG as applied.to qualifying partnerships

Iii our opinioh, based ofi the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

‘» ‘the information given in the Str'ategic répoit and the General Partner’s report for the financial year for which the financial
statemenits afe prepared is ¢onsistent with the financial statements.

> the Strategic report and the General Parther’s feport havé beén prépared in-:accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on Which We:ire réquired to réport by exception
In light of the knowledge and understanding of the qualifying partership and its environment obtained in the coutse of the dudit,
we have ideitified o material misstatements: in ‘the Strategic report or General Partner’s report.

We havee niothing to report.in respect of the following matters-where the Companies Act:2006.as applied to qualifying
partnerships requires us to report.to you if, in our opinion:

» adequate accounting récotds have:not bieen kept, or returns ‘adequate for our audit.have not been received from branches-
fiot visited by us; or

> the financial statements adre not'in agreemérit with the accounting records-and returns; or

» certain disclosures of members”remuneration specified by law are niot made; or'

» we have riot-receivéd all the informationi and explanations:we require for our audit..

Respon;ibilitigs of the General Partner

As explained more fully in the General Parme'r"s.'ReSpo'ﬁSi'bilitiés Stdtement set,out on page9, the General Partner is: responsible
for-the preparation. of the financial stateinents and. for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such inteinal
control as the membeérs déterimine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are freé from material,

In preparing the financial statements, the General Partner is responsible:for assessing the qualifying partnership’s ability to
contiriue & 4 going coricern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going coticern basis of
dccounting unless General Parmer either-intend fo liquidate the: qualifying partneérship or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so..

Auditor’s résponsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statémerits asa whole aré free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud.or error, and to issue ai auditot’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not-a giarantee that an audit. conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a matérial
nrisstatement when it exists. Misstatenients can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken ‘on the basis of these financial
statements.

11
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THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE PARTNERS OF THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED
PARTNERSHIP (CONTINUED)

Ex‘pla‘ﬁa’tihn‘ as to what extent the audit was considered ;agab[e oﬁdeigcti',h'g irreguiarities, 'including fraud

Irfegulatities, includisig fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in liné-with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to détect irrégularities, including fraud. The risk of nof detecting a material misstatement due to
fraud is hngher than the risk of not detecting oné resulfing from error, as fraud iay involve deliberate concealment by, for
éxample, forgery of intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. The extent to which oiir procedures are capablé of
detecting ifregularities, including fraud is detailed below. However, the primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of
fraud rests with both those charged with govetnance of the qualifying partnershxp and management.

« We obtained'an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that ate applicable to the qualifying partnership and.
determined.that the most significant are: (1) those that directly affect the financial statements, in particular the financial reporting,
framework (including related companies legislation as applied to qualifying partnerships), and any relevant direct and indirect tax
compliance regulation in the United ng,dom, and (2) those that indirectly affect.the financial statements where non-compliance
would hiave a material effect on the financial statements,

« We understood how the QUalyifying partnership is complying with those frameworks through inquiry with management, in
particular those resporisible for regulatory and légal compliance; and by identifying the entity’s policies and procedures regarding
compliance with.laws and regulation. We corroborated out inquiries through:

~ Inquiring of management'and those charged with governance regarding their knowledge of any non-compliance or potential

non-compliance with laws and regulations that could affect the financial statements;

¢ Reéading miniites of Board meetings of the Directors of the General Partne, other qualifying partietship govermance meetings

‘as well as'validating how policies and procedures in these areas are communicated and monitored:

= Reading corréspondénce fiom legal and regulatory bodies and reviewing legal expenses incurred;

e Considering the results of our other audit procedures to either cofroborate or provide contrary evidence,
* We assessed the susceptibility of the qualifying partnership’s financial statements to material misstatcment, inicludiiig, how fraud
'might occur, in particular (1) the risk that management may be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries, (2) the risk
of bias in accounting estimates.and judgements such as investment property valuation; (3) the risk of inappropriate revenue
recognition.

Our fraud risk assessiment included enquiring of managemenit, and inspection of documentation, as to, the qualifying partnership’s
policies and procedures to prevent and detect.fraud, as well as to whethér they have any knowledge of suspected or alleged fraud
together with readm_g Board minutes and using analytical procedures to identify unusual or-unexpected relationships in the
financial information.

Our procedures in respectof identified fraud risks included:;

* Testing revenue recognition using test of details and substantive analytical procedures;

* Challenging, and using specialisis where appropriate, the- methods and key inputs into property valuations arid other
estimales;

« Journal entry testing, with a focus on unusual entries or transictions based on our understanding of the business, including
post year-end closing journals.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s websité at https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our
auditor’s report.
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THE ASHFORD: INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP:

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE PARTNERS OF THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED
PARTNERSHIPR(CONTINUED)

"l’J’sé ‘bf’éiir‘ report,

(partﬁershnp s General Partner 4§ d body, for ‘Out audlt work, for: thxs report orfor;the opmlons we have formed

P

David&¥tson (fS_énior‘_é'taﬁxthy.audi'tbf). ]
for and ofibehalf of Ernst:& YoingLLP; Statutory&lditot
‘Tondon :

Dates21 Deceriber 3023
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THE-ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year«ended 31 December 2022

o 2021
2022 Restated*
Notes: £ £
‘“Turnover 2 19,5 27,697 15,382,086
 Property expenditure 9.405,973) (7,892,579)
Gross Broﬁte . 10,121,724 7,489,507
Administrative:expenses {2,226,695) (1,592262)
Change'in fait'valie of derivative instrusients 6,739,623 1,075,448
Chiange:iii fairvalue of investment:property (3 ) (1,687.362) 3,822,646
"OPERATING PROFIT -4 12,947,290 10,795,339
Interest payable and similat charges: 5 (6:678,154) (5,706,440)
Interest receivable-and similar income. 52,2517 -
‘PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEEORE S .
TAXATION 6,321,393 5;088,899
Tax:on profit on ordinary activities 3 -

PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AFTER.
TAXATION BEING TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 6:321,393 5,088,899
INCOME FOR THE YEAR

All resulis are derived from continuing ‘operatiors inthe United Kingdom.

*+Prior period cotriparatives have been festited to-réflect the correction of the prior year accounting treafment of the loans
due fo partriers. Refet to Note. 1. for further details..
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THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
BALANCE SHEET
31, December-2022
2021
Restated”
Note: £ £

2022

FIXED ASSETS
Tangible:assets 6 82,373 77;600.
Tnvestment property 6 2193569280 220,972,884

219,651:653 221,050,484

‘CURRENT ASSETS

Debors: amounts due within oné yea 7 5:876;549 5,453:295
Débitors: amounts due after moreithan one year 12,676:881 3,980,798 -
Cash:at’bank:and in hand 13 1,043 14,301,171

Restricted:cash -ideposits received ffom tenants 405,836 405,806:

53190309 24,141,070

‘CREDITORS: amounts falling due within one year g (3.854,212).  «(5:399.319)

NET CURRENT ASSETS 17,336,097 18,741,751

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT'LIABILITIES 236,987,750 239,792,235

CREDITORS: amounts:falling due after more-than one

§ (146989,693)  (141:0365556)
year S i A

NET.ASSETS; © 89:998:057 98,755,679

‘REPRESENTED: BY:

PARTNERS’ ACCOUNTS
Partniers® capitalaccounts - equity 11 100,000.
Partiérs” cufréiit accoiints:- €quity’ 12, 89.898:057 98655679

89,998,057 98,755,679,

* Prior; pefiod comparaives have been restated to reflect:the correction of the prior year accounting treatmerit.ofithe
‘loans due;to parfners. Refer-to:Note 1. for furth

These financial statements of The Ashfotd Livéstor, Lirdited Bartnership, Registration No..LP007517 wete approved by
thé Ashford lfivestor: (Géneral Partnier) Liniited on 20 December 2023 and were signed on is behalf by

DociSigned.by:

(RS
= Qé;!Fﬂ.fi,B.g&?SOZE’J.Q---

S Johnston

"Director’

For.arid on behalf of Ashford Investor (General Partner) Limited
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THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO PARTNERS

:31 December 2022,

Balance.as at31 December2020*

Total comprehensive income forithe year*
{Capital coritribution*

Balance.ds.at31 Decembeéi 2021*
Total.comprehensive, income for the year
Capital confribution

Distributions (Note 18)

Balance-asat 31 December 2022

Partners’
capital
accounts
£

100,000

Partners’

cuFFent

accounts
£

92;183;194

5,088,899

1.383,586

Total

92,283,194
5,088,899

100,000

98,655:679
6,321,393,
420,985

:(15,500;000)

98,755,679
6:321,393
420:985

{15,500,000)

100,000,

89,898,057

£0.998,057

* Prior period comparatives have been restated to reflect the cofrection.of the prior year accounting treatment-of fhe

loans.dug to partners: Reférto Note 1 for further details.
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‘THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

T OF CASH FLOWS
Year-ended:31 December 2022

Notés:

‘Net cash inflow from gperating, activities

[Investing activities.

‘Paymenis fo-acquire tangible:fixed assets
Additions to investment property:

Net cash outfiow from investing activities
‘Finarcing activities

Interest paid

‘Distiibition (o partiess

‘Proceeds fromnewbank:loan

‘Bank loan issié ¢osts
"Proceeds from:new loans conributed by pattners

‘Net cash outflow from financing activifies
JIncrease in.cash and. cash equivalents

‘Cash:and cash-equivalents at 1 January.

13¢b)

‘Cash:and tashi‘equivalents.at 31

‘December, 13(b)

13(a).

(39.975)
(283,758

(3,765,675)

(15,560,000)
3,500,000
(938,357).

. 900,000

17

2023

£ &

(323,733)

(2/957,384)

___2:800,000°
(15,804,032)

'(10,070,128)

14:301,171

4,231,043

(9.047)

2021

9,057,943

(4,415:093)

(157,884)

4,484:966

9816205

14,301,171
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THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

'NOTES TO'THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.1

12

13

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Ashford Investor Limited Partnershlp (“thg” Parmershlp”) 1572 partnershxp tegistered in Englind & Wiles, Usited
Kirigdom and i prepares accourits-under The Partnershlp (Accounts) Regulations 2008, The nature of the.

Partriership’s operations-and its prificipal activities:aré set-out on-page 5;

The Partaership is-regiilated by.a Deed:of Pattiiership dated 28 March2001 as amended.and restated on'26

September 2011 and 22 February 2017.

STRUCTURE OF THE.PARTNERSHIP
Thie capitdl 6fthe Partiiership has beén;provided by the Partners in the following proportions:
31 December
2022

Limited partners:

Outlet Ashford Holdings: Sarl
The Royal Lofidon'Mutul Tnsifance Society Lifited
Staffordshire:County Council Pension Fund.

Général Partner:
Ashford Thvestor(General Partner) Limited 1.00%

Net profit:orloss for-each financial year'is-allocated between the Pariners in‘these proportions.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statenient of compliunce

31 December

2021

49.50%,
24.75%
24:75%.

1.00%

The Ashford liivestorLimited Paftnership (“the Partnership™) is a partnership registered.in England & Wales, United
Kingdom: Iis registered office’is 103 Wigmore Street, 3rd Floor, Nations Houst, London; England W1U 1QS,

“The financial Statemerits have béen prepared in compliance with. apphcable law and United K.mgdom Accounting’
Standards including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting standard applicable in the UK and Republic.of Ir¢land”
(United Kingdom- Generally Accepted. Accountmg Practice). The particiilar-accounting policies adopted ate
described below. They have-ali beei applied consistently-throughout the current period.and the preceding year:

'Basis of preséntation.
‘These financial statemenits have béen prepated UinderRegulation 4 of the Partnerships (Accounts) Regulations
2008..

The financial statements are prepared in Sterling which is the furictional aiid preseritation cufrency of the Partnéiship

‘and rounded to'the nearest £
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THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

1.3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Going concern
The General Partner considers that the Partnership will contiriue as a going concem over the going concern review
period that runs from the date of approval of the year ended 31 December 2022 financial statements unitil 31
Deceinber 2024. This assumes that the Partnership will be able to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due for the
foreseeable future, As at 31 December 2022, thefe is a net cufrent asset position of £17,336,097 (2021:
£18,741,751) and a net asset position of £89,998,057 (2021: £98,755,679) in the Partnership, which tactors in
Partriers’ loan accounts of £44,302,936 (2021: £41,081,800). These loans haye no fixed repayment dates and are
intérest free.. The General Parmer has received a letter of support from each of the limited partriers confirming that
they do not intend to request repayment of any amouints diie to them, which includes any of the current accounts:
outstanding; if it would result in the Partnership being unable to meet its financial liabilities as they fail due. This
support has been given: from the date of approval of the Partnership’s financial statéments through to 31 December
2024,

On 24 February 2022, Russia invaded Ukrairie. The ongoing war has led to inflationary pressures, increasing interest
rates, slowdown in economic growth, as well as supply chain disruptions. This has naturally had.an adverse impact
on both UK businesses and consumers.and in the context of the Partnership, can lead to pressures on Centre
performance, as well as on the tirhover of the brands in the Centre. Based on latest sales results and key
performance indicators, such as footfall and ‘average spend per visitot, the McArthurGlen Ashford Designer Outlet
Cetre {5 trading ahead of the financial year ended 31 Deceinber 2022. The General Partner has considered the
specific impact-of these events on the McArthurGlen Ashford Designer Outlet Centre and does not believe that they
have led to a sigﬁiﬁéaht impact on the Partnership’s sales, nor on the turnover of its brand partners. Given that the
conflict is ongoing at the date of approval of these financial statements, there reniains a level of unpredictability, and
therefore the General Partner will ‘continue to moriitoi the situafion ‘closely to determine if there is:any impact of the.
conflict on the future viability of the Partnership taking necessary steps to-mitigate these effects proactively.

The General Partner prepared a base cash flow forecast for the going concemn period to suppoit the going concern
assessment;, The forecasted figures until the end of 2023 were based on the approved budget, whilst 2024 figures:
were based on the estifated profit and loss figures included as part of an overall 10 year plan prepared by the
General Partner. This assumes an increased total income by the end of 2024 -compared to 2023 by 10.2% as well 2
projected increase in net operating profit by 30.9%. Based on. this forecast, the General Partner noted that the
‘Partnership will generate positive cash flows and will not breach any bank covenants during the-going concern
Teview period.

On 23 May 2022, the Partnership refinanced its existing loan with Bayerische Landesbank for a.total amount of
£103,500,000. This loan facility is due to expire on 23 May 2027, outside the going concern review period.

Under the'teims of'the bank loan agreement, the Partnership must comply with a Historical Interest Cover ratio
covenant throughout the'loan term and up until the loan taturity date. As at the signing date of the financial
statements of the Partnership, no breach in the Historical Interest Cover ratio loan covenant on the bank loan facility
‘has occurred, and the Generdl Partner's base cashflow forecast indicates that there are no covenant breaches in'the
forécasted cashflows over the going concemn review period. However, aftef applying sensitivities to this base
forecast, the General Partner notes that the Partnership may breach the Historical Interest Cover ratio loan covenant
for the quarters ending March 2024 to Decernber 2024. The key downside sensitivities applied in this forecast are to
align income and expenditure for the forecasted period to December 2023 and for the year to December 2024 to be
in lini with the yeareénded 2022, and therefore no rental income growth is assumed. The downside sensitivity also
applies a worst case inflationary rate to expenditure.

The General Partner has also received an éxternal valuation for the McArthurGlen Ashford Designer Qutlet Centre
‘that niotes the fair value of the outlet centre to be £226,800,000 (2021: £225,400,000) as at 31 December 2022, a
0.6% increase in value from 31 December2021. Based on thé $ame, there are no Loan-to-Value (“LTV”) covenant
breaches in the forecasted cashflows over thé going concern review period, with this valuation beidg the General
Partner’s best.estimate of the fair value of the McArthurGlen Ashford Designer Outiet Centre as at the date of
signing of these financial statements.
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THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

1.3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Going concern (continued)
Based on the above, the General Partner has identified the following material uncertainty with respéct to the
Partnership's going concern assumption arising from the downside sensitivity analysis:

1. The Qua]ifying Parthership’s forecast compliarice with the Historical Interest Cover ratio covenant related to its
bank debt secured against the assets of the Qualifying Partnership, including the McArthurGlen Ashford Designer
Outlet Centré, caused by the sensitivity analysis performed to address the uncertainty associated with. the future
trading performance as.a tesult of macro-économic factors.

The aforementioned condition constitutes a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt upon the ability of
the Partnership to continue as a going concern. Going forward, the General Partner will continue to routinely
monitor the-Partnership’s cashflow position and if necessary, will curtail any discretionary expenditures which are
niot committed to 6ver the going toncem review period, such as non-essential capital expénditure, asset inanagemient
initiatives, and discretionary marketing expériditure. The General Partner also believes that funding calls can be,
made to investors in scenarios where cash is required. Furthermore if any challenges arise in meefing the loan
covenatits, the General Partner believes that there would be potential to seek waiver letters, given the exisfing
relationship in place with the bank. The General Paitner therefore has a reasonable expectation that the Partnership
will be able to operate in line with the base case cash flow scenario and continue its operations for the foreseeable
future. Accordingly, the General Partner believes that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statenients on a going
concern basis. The financial stateménts d6 not reflect any adjustments that would be required should thie Partnetship
be unable to continue as a going concern.

Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported for
turnover and expenses during the year. However, the naturc of estirhation means that actual outcomes could differ
from those estimates.

In the event such estimates and assumptions, which are ‘based on the bestjudgement of the General Partner as at the
balance sheet date, deviate from the actual circumstances inthe future the original estimates and assumptions will be
modified as appropriate in the year in which the circumstances change.

The éstimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting estimates are
recognised in.the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future petiods.

There are no-areas requiring significant judgemeat.
The following is the Partnership’s key soiirces of estimation uncertainty:

Revaluation of investment property. (estimate)

The Partnership carries its investment property at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in profit or
value is based on active market prices, adjusted if necessary for differences iri the naturé, location or condition of the
specific asset. The fair value of thie investment property reflects, among other things, rental income from current
‘leases and other assumptions market participants. would make when pricing the property under current market
conditions. Valuations are performed as of the balance sheet date by‘professional valuers who hold recognised and
relevant professional qualifications and have recent experience in the location and category of the investnient
property being valued. The key assumptions used to determine the fair value of investment property are further
explained in Note 6.
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“THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

NOTES TO:THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
13 ACEOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Significant:accounting:policies

‘Bisic findn strifiiients:
Tiddé.and other-debtors/ éreditors.

Trade anid-other debtors: are recoj

3 'ans‘ac.‘tibn 'p’x‘ic‘:’e 'l'és;s ’atu'iBnrdBIe tran‘sa‘cfion' costs. Trade:and
1 me,a.suféd at

arrangement constxtutes a. fmancmg ‘transaction, for example
‘then 1t is measured*at the: present: value of fliture paytients dlscounted(at a market rate of Instrument:: fo i similar

debt

[nterest—bearmg bank l ans ang fts :aré initially recognised at falr value After:initial recognition-at fair- value
‘theyare measured at: arivitised Cost: sing.the efféctive interest rate method, less impairment.

ing premlums payable on settlement or: redempuon and direct issue costs are account d-for

Cash.and.cash equivalents
Cash and:cash equivalents.in the balance sheet:comprise ¢ash ‘it banks and ini hand and shott-terr.deposits' with an
original maturi ‘three months of less..

For:the piirposes of thie consalidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents:corisist of ‘cash and cash
eqiiivalents:as defined above; netiof outstanding bank overdiafts.

Letting induceinents
Létting inducements are'classified as ofher debtors and amortised against refital inconié’ 6ver the.ron-cancellable
period;of the lease..

Other financiil instririents

Derivativé financial instriiments

vidlue is positiverand as llabllmes when the f:n i neganve The fa; value of ifitefest rate swap contracts is;
defermined by calculating the:present:alue of the estimited; future cash flows based .on observable: ,y;e_ld curves.
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THE ASHFORD, INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

N TES. TO THE. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
:3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fin ‘instruments issued by, the LB-are treated-as équity ohiyto the.extent:that ‘they meet'the following two!
conditions®
w theyificlude no-contractual obligations upon. the LP to deliver cash or-other firiaticial asséts or to excharige

financial assets;or financidl liabilities with anvther paity tiiider cofiditions that-are potentially unfavourable to the

. Whefé ’tB'e ihsﬁu’ment wiIl ormay | be seﬁléd in’ the LP’s'own equity ins'ti'uments it is’ e‘ith‘er‘ a; non-déi{vétiVe

equlty mstruments

To the extent that-this definitionis notirét, the instiithent is classified as a financial liability..

Tangible asséts
Ttems classed 4s fixturés; fittings and equipment within the Balance Sheet:are carried:at historical cost less
accumulated depreciationi.

Depreciation jscalculated on the;stiaight-liné method to Write down the cost of assefs to their residual values over
i nated useful lives as follows:

FiXiures, fittings and equipment 1015 years

The General Partner assesses if there are any impairiient ifidicators at:each reporting date. If there is an indicator, an
lmpalrment test is-tequired. and where:the carrymg amount of an;3ssetiis:areater than its éstimated recoverable
amount,’it is writterr dowii inifmediately to its-f&¢overable amount: Gains and Josses on disposal of fixturés;and
fittings are determined by reference to their _canﬁymgiamount and dfe xnclg({egl.;n the Statement of Compr_e,henswe'
[ficormie.

Investment property

Investment.propérties ate initially récognised at.cost which includes purchase costand any direcily dtiribitable.
"expenditure:

Investment propetties afe subsequently;measured‘af fair value. The surplus ot deficit on'tevalidtion is recognised in
‘the profit and loss.account.

[nvestment propemes are revalued annually by professionally- qualified éxternal valuers in-accordance with the
‘Royal Institute:of Chartered. Surveyors(RICS) Valuafion — Professional Standards (2020).

Leases

asset artj: clqsmﬁ_gd as ope:atmg lease.s, _There are no material ﬁnance leases affectmg the Par[nershlp gs g;theg le,ssor
of lessee..

Distribution
Thie General Partner‘is.advised on a quarterly basis by the asset mandgers of the récommiended distributions; based

on.current/and futiire eXpected cashflows. Based on the information:supplied, the:General Pattner decides:on the
final disribution. which is fecogtiised 6tice thie distribution is legally required to be paid:
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THE ASHEORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
1:3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Significant accounting policies (continued)

Partners? Capital

Partners’ capital accounts represent the-amounts coiitributed to'the Partnership by way of Partnership capxtal The
aggregate: balance consists of 100,000 units with a.value of €1 each. No partneris entitléd to interest on its share of
the capital. of the Partnership.

Turnover

Rerital incoirié 1§ fecognised 6n.astraight line basis and is made up of i) minimym base renit and ii) turnover rent,
which is calculated as:a;percentage of the tenant's sales for the $pécified period. Minimui base rent is billed, enther
‘monthly or. quarterly,i rrears or in advance,depending on the lease for the individual tenant. Tumover rentis
billed €ither monthl_y - quarterly in drredrs, depefiding on the lease for the individual tenant. Any rents that are not
‘illed'in the moiith due to tenants not 'supplying the necessary turnover figures, are-accrued for of.an estimated
basis. Rental income excludes value added tax and represénts rétital iicome earned from third parties. This.is
attributable to one contintinig activity in the UK, thé letting and management of property,

Léase incentives given to tenants, such as rent-free periods are also amortised straight-line ovér the ion-cancellable
lease term, This amortisation is {included as a reduiction in rehtal iricome. The valuation of ‘the: properties is reduced
by the unamortised capital cotitributions.

Seivice chatges' represent reimmbursements of costs incurred on behalf of the‘tenants and dre.tecogiiised on a straight
line basis, either mon‘t'hly or quarterly in arrears, depehding"o'n».t'h?e lease for the iridividual fenant; '
‘Storage ificome is chiarged to tenants that require additional space for storage and is baséd on 4 pre-agreed rate as
determinéd in the storage agreement for each tenant: It is recognised on a straight line basis and monthly:in arrears.

‘Parking incomie is charged at the time the service is provided to the visitors of thé Centre, who use'the on-site parking,
facilities.

Capital expenditure recoverable from tenants.
Capll:al expenditure recoverable from tenants is held at amortised cost. A discount rate of 8.75% (2021: 8:75%) is
used, The discountrateis calculated based on econoniic assumptions reflecting the inherent risk of the‘business.

Taxation
Each Pariner is exclusively liable for-any tax liabilities arising out of its interest in the Partmership hence no
provision for taxation has beén inade.in the Partiiership’s financial statements.

Cotrecﬁon of an error

but aftér a detalled tfeview of the partnershnp and shareholder deeds managemem have toncluded that this should ‘be:
classed as a non-current liability instead. The rationale behind this réclassification is that the deeds do not contain
any clause that state that the loais aré repaydbie on demand. Iastead the-loans would either be repaid on i) sale of the
property; or-ii) windirig up of the partnership. The deeds also state that the decision to sell the property or terminate
the. Partriership may only occur, two. years prior to the explry date of 21 February 2032, further justifying a non-
current classification, Therefore a restatement of thie prior year comparative in the financial statements is necessary.

Due 10 the rec’lass’iﬁéa(ioh the [i‘abilit‘y must be discounted to its present.value as at the balan’ce sheet date and the

each year, the accrqllon of the mte{est fro_m the.present valuc calculation should be rec_orded as'an expense in the
income statement..
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THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP-

‘NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
1:3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Significant-accounting; policies (continaed)

Correctionof.an-érror (continued)

:As such the.errorihas been corrected by restating each of'the. affected financial statement line:items forthe prior

péfiod as follows:

‘Restated line‘items: within balance:skieet
31-Dee-21
Restated
£
Creditors: amourits fallifig die withiin oné yea:

Creditors: amourits-falling due.after more than orie year 141,036,556
Capital:Contribution 3557 05
98,655,679

Partners’ Currént:accounts =.equity

Restated lin€ itéms within statement of comprehensive incorme:
31:Dec-21
Restated
£

Iitterest:payablé and similar charges: 5,706,440

5399319

As previously
stated’
£
79,757,365

99,954,756

65,379:433:

31-Dec-21

As previously
stated

£

3,237,781

Restated liné-items witliin statémenit of changes in net assets attributable to thie paitiers

31-Dec:21
‘Restated:
£
92,283,194
15,088,899

‘Bilance as.at 31 Decembet 2020
“Total comprehensive income for the year,
‘Capital Contribution

1.383,586 _

31:Dec-21.
As previously
stated
57,921,875
7i557,558

Net increase./
(decrease)

' £

(74,358,046)

41,081,800

33,276,246

‘Nétincrease /

(decrease)

E
2,468,659

Net incréase/

{decreasé)

{ ¢
34,361,319
(2,468,659)

1,383,586

‘Balarice as &t 31 December, 2021 98,755,679

‘Réstated line items svithinuinterest payable.and similar chidrges note
2021
Restated
£

Partner 0ait ifiterest 2,468,659

65,479,433

2021
As previoasly
stated.
£

Restated lifne ifems withiin creditors; amounts falling due withii one year note

2021
Restated

Pattniers® loar accounts -

28

2021

As previoisly:
stated

£

74,358,046

33,276,246

Net increase /
(decrease)

£
2,468,659

‘Netincrease:/

(decrease)

£
(74.358,046),
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THE.ASHEORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

NOTES TO'THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS(CONTINUED)
1.3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Significant decoiinfinig:policies (continiued)
:Corréction.of-an efror (Confiniied)

Restated:line:items-within creditors: amounts'falling due dfter onie yeaF note-
2021 3021 Netinceease
(decrease)
As.previously
'stated
£ £ i £
Pariners” loan accounts. 41,081,800 s 41,081,800

Restated

Restated linefitems within related'parties note
Transactions:with investors with significant influence over the:operationsof the Limited Partnership'have beeii
disclosed in the:table below: ) '
TheRoyal London Mutual' Insurance Society
N Litited
Aspreviously  Netincrease:/.
stated (decrease)

£ £ £,

Restated

Partners’ loans

At 31 Décexiiber:2020 17,889,512 8,585,094y
Advanges of investor, loans 354,106 700;000 {345,894)
{Unwinding of interést 617,182 - 617:182
At 31 Decemberi2021 10275706 18,589,512 (8,313,806)

Partners™ Current. Accounts:

At 31 Deceinber 2030 22,840,091, 14:310,914 8529177
Profit share 1,259,502 1,870,496 {610,994).
Capital Coiitribution’ . 317687 - 317,687
At 31 December202i1 94,417,380 16,181,410,  8235)870

Oiitlet Astiford Holdings Sarl
Aspreviously  Netincrease/
stated {decrease);
£ £ 3

Restated

Paitrers” loans

Af31 December-2020 18,609,284 35,779,622 (17,169,73%)

Advances of investor loats 708,201 1,400,000 (691,799).
1,233,731 - 1233731

20,551,216 37:179,022  (16:627.806).

Patthers” Cirrent. Accoiints

At 31 December2020 45,680,181 28621830 17,058,351
‘Profit share: 2,519,004 3,740:991 (1:221,987)
Capifal Contribution 635,375 - 635,375
At 31 December202] 48,834,560 32,362:821 164715739
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DocuSign Envelope ID: A4571E3B-0256-4302-A4EE-47D2C96BFDAT
THE ASHFQRD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

NOTES TQ THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
13 AGCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Significant-accounting policies (continuedy
Correction of an‘error (confinued),

Restated line items within related parfies note (continued)

Partners” loans

At31. Deceniber 2020
-Advances of investor loans
Unwinding of; interest

Staffordshire County Council Pension Fund,

Restated

OlT74T

As previously
stated
£

17,889,512
700,000

‘Net increase /'
{(decreasg)
£

(8:606,488)
(345 893)
617,747

At:31 December 2021

‘Partnérs’ Clifrent Acéounts
.At 31 December 2020

‘Profit share:

Capifal Contribution.

10,254,878

22,840,091
1,259,502
317,687

18,589,512

14,310,914
1,870,496

(8,334,634)

8,529,177
94)

At 31 December 2021

2. 'TURNOVER
Turnover consistsof:
‘Rental income

Sérvice chiarges
Storage and parking

3. TAXATION
a) ‘“Tax ou loss on ordinary activities

Current fax:
Ciifrent corporation tax charge
Deferredtit:

Tax losses recognised

Total:tax (credit)/charge:

26

24417280

16,181;410

1023

12,380,795

5.474:500
1,672,402

8,235,870

021
£
9,754,945

4,903,874
723,267

19,527,697

15,382,086

2022
£

2021
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‘THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

NOTES'TO-THE FINANCIALSTATEMENTS (GONTINUED]

3

TAXATION (CONTINUED)
b) ‘Faitors affecting the'cufreiit tax eharge/ (credit) foF the period.

The tax.assessed for the period is-different:from the:standard rate of corporation-tax in'the UK of 19% (2021; 19%):

Profiton ordinary’activities: before tax:

Profiton ordinary activities multiplied by the sfandard rafe of corporation tax
in'the UK:of 19% (2021:19%).

Effect of:
Profits allocated to Ashford Investor:Genetal Paraier Liited.
Profifs allocated to Limited Pariners

Total tax for the period.

. {OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS),

Qpetatitig (loss)/profit is stated after eariiinig./ (charging):

Auditor’s- remuneration:

Audit fee for thie'atidit-6f the Partriership

Non-audit fees paid to the auditor-for tax compliance, services:provided to the,
“Partnership

Depreciation on:tangible assets
Amortisation of tenantincentives
‘Gain-on derivativé fitiancial instrunients

No staff iwere employed by the Parthership during the yeat (2021 nil).

INTEREST PAYABLE AND SINMILAR CHARGES

Partneriloa est
Titerest payable:on.bank loans
Amortisation of loan issue costs

2022
£

6,321,393

2021
£

5,088,899,

1,201,065

(12,071
(1:189,054)

966,891

(9:669)
(957,222)

2022
£

110431

122302:25

2021
36,000
20,000

59,697
2,527,113

(1,075,448)

2021
Restated*

2,957,884
279.897.

5,706:440;

* Prior pericd comparatives hive been restated to feflect the correction-of the prior yéar dccounting treatment.of the

loans due to partners: Refer to'Note | for further details.
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THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

6. TANGIBLE ASSETS AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Fixtures, Freehold:
fittings and ‘investment
equipment. property
£ £
Cost or-valuation,
At 31 Deceniber 2021 1,292,377 220,972,884
Additions 39,976 283,758
Valuation adjustment; - (1,687,362),
A3 Décembér 2022 1,312,353 219,569,280,
Accimulated depreciition.
At.31 December 2021 (1,194,777) -
Charge ifi the year 35,203) -
At3] December. 2022 (1,229,980).
Net book:value
At3] December 2022 ‘82,373 219,569,280,
At 31 December.2021 77,600, 220,972,884

The freehold investment property swas valued in line-with.the RICS UK Valuation.Standards (*‘the Red.Book”) on:31
Deceniberi2022-at fair value by CB Richard Ellis Limited, professxonally quahﬁed external valuers: The historical
¢ost-of the investatefitproperty-at 31 Decéimber 2022 was £163,205,737 (2021: £162,921,979)..

Under FRS 102, theé Partnership can elect to eapitalisé finance ¢osts that are.directly artributable to the developmient
of the qualifying asset, the freehold investment property. During the year-ended 31 December 2022, no finance costs
(2021; £nil) have been capitalised into. the.freehold investment property;.

The valuation has been: pnmanly derived usmg ‘comparable recent market transactions on arm’s length terms. The
critical assiifriptions made.felating to'the valuations are set out below::

Dec=22 Dec-21.
‘Exit Yicld 6.50%, 6.00%
Stabilised Oceiipancy Rate: '84.50% 82.90%
Discount Rate 8.75%, 8.75%
2022 2021
£ £

Appraised value
Carrying valueiof assets held under frechold property 219,569,280 220,972,884
Tenant inducements held as shoit tetin débtors (Note 7). ' 1,537,212 1,241,293
Tenarit:inducéments held as long term debtors (Nate 7), 5,693,508 3,185,823
Fairvilue 226,800,000 225,400,000

Together, BMG. (Ashford) Limited, Ashford Investor (General Partner) Ltd, and Ashford (nvestor (Pérthership
Trustco)'Lid all hold legal title torespective components of the property‘on trust for'the Partaership. The Partnership
is the beneﬁc1a1 owner of the property and so is ultlmately enntled to the ﬁnanctal value of the land as this prowdes

_sa_l_c_. As ‘s_uch 1_t_ is a_pprqgn,a,te, to recognise the v,alua pf thc_progprty w1,thm fhie statemenit of financial position.
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DocuSign Envelope 1D:A457.1E38-0256-4302-A4EE-4702CI6BFDAT?
THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED: PARTNERSHIP

NOTES:TO THE FINANCIAL-STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

T

DEBTORS
2032 2021
£ £

Amouantsfalling diie Within.one year
Trade débtors
Ottlier debtors -temant inceiitive (Note 6)

2,666,102
1,241,293

Amounts‘owed ftom the. Ashford Investor (General Partner), Limited 276, 053 1 1 945
‘Prépayments and accrued income 2,391,895 '

5,876,549 .5.453.2.95'

2022 2021,
£ £

Amountsfalling due in more than onejyear
Othier debtors:- tehantiineéntive.(Note 6) 5,693,508 3,185,823
‘Capital expenditure recoverable from tenanfs 483,376 794,975
Dérivatives: 6,499,997 -
12676,881, 3:980,798

“The Partnershlp 's-,‘admmlstered by Ashford Investor (Oeneral Partner) Llrmted (the “General Panner”) The partners

‘frec, and,repayable on.,demand at both the, pnor, and,current_ year—cnd

Denvanves due after one year, of £6,499,997 (asset) (2021 denvatlves due wuhm one year £239 626 (habllnt_y))

t rate fiue atlons T efalr value of: the mterest rate swaps 1§ determmed using quoted: pnces,‘calculated at the,
mid-pgmt,qf the rqleya,nt,ylgld_,gurves.

‘CREDITORS; AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE'YEAR

2021

2022. Réstated™

£ £

Trade creditors 981391 542,468
Afioiits owed to:related parties 805,894 766,819
Accrudls:and deferred income 3,612,034 3,219,839
Derivitives - 239,626
VAT payable 49,057 224,761
Cashihield'in trist: 405,836 405,806
5854212 _ 5399319

Arounts owed torelated parties is predominantly made, up of: amounts ‘owed to McArthurGlen UK Limited, which
is;a-related party by virtue of the factthat McArthurGlen UK Limited is a joint-ventuté of Siinén.Mac LLC aid thé.
‘Partnetship is an associate-of Sifion Maec:LLC.

iCash’held.in trust for-fenants comprises:tenant'deposits-and s treated as restricted cash in the'Balance Sheet,

*Priorpériod.coimparatives have been Téstated to reflect the.correction 6 thé prior year accounting treatment.of the

Toans due to partners. Refer toNote. 1 Tor futher details.
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THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

9.

. 2021

2022 Restated*

£ £

Bank loan: 103,500,000 1.00,000,000.
Bank loar issue costs unamortised (813,243) (45,248)
Partners’ loan accounts 44,302,936 41,081,800.

146,989,693 141,036,556

The bank loan consists of a loan from Bayerische Landesbank and SMBC totalling £103,500,000 (2021:
£100,000,000), where each lender has a 50% share of the total loan amount at an interest rate of SONIA +2.15%
miargin per anhum. 80% of the loan is hedged through 2 SONIA SWAP set at-2.135%. The loan is secured by fixed
and floating charges on the assets of the Partnership.

‘The loan existing at.31 December 2022 was bound by the following covenants:

+ Ratio, of rental income to debt service (Historical Interest Cover Ratio): Annual rental must be equal to or greater
than 175% until one year after Practical Completion of Phase 2, and 250% thereafter of finance cost (2021: the
same).

+ Loan to asset value;.Must at no time.exceed 60% (2021; 60%).

There was no bredch of the loan ¢ovenants during the financial year. The Partnership had an agreement with the
lending bank for the waiver of the Historical Interest Cover Ratio (“ICR”) covenant for the péfiod up until 22
February 2022, at which point the loan was.due to expire. A Second Amendment and Restatement Deed was entered
into on 23 May 2022.by thé Parmeérship with Bayerische Landesbank, which refinanced this external loan into a new
facility totalling £103,500,000 maturing on 23 May 2027. Refér to Note 1.3 for an -analysis of compliance on the
loan covenants during the going concern review period,

Pattriers’ loan accounts comprise of loans given by the Partners in accordance with the terms set out in the Deed of
Partnership. These loans have no fixed repayment dates and are interest free.

The movement in the Partners’ loan accounts is as follows:

2021
2022 Restated*
£ £

Partners’ loan accounts
At 1 January 41,081,800 37,196,726
Loans coniributed 479,015 1,416,415
Interest 2,742,121 2,468,659
At 31 December. . 44302936 41,081,800

Each partner has confirmed by way of'a lettet of support that they do not inteénd to request repaymént of amounts due
if it-would result in the Partnership being unable to meet its financial liabilities as they fall due to the end of the
goiiig concern review period being 3.1 Decembér 2024.

Loans contributed.consists of i} cash received of £900,000, less amounts recorded as capital contribution of
£420,985.

* Prior period comparatives,have been restated to reflect the correction of the prior year accounting treatmenit of the
loans.due to partners. Refer to Note 1 for further details.
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. THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

NOTES; TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED),
10. LOANS

Loans repayible (riadé ip of partiiers' 16an accounits. and bank loans), included within creditors, are analysed.as
follows:
2022 2021
£ : &
Wholly repayable within five' yeats 57 99,954,756,
Not'wholly:repayable within five. yieats 44,302,936 41,081,800
S 146,989,693, 141,036,556

1L, PARTNERS’ CAPITAL

(ot
-

2022 2024
£ £

Parfiners” capital accounts,
At January and 31 Decémber 100,000 1.00.000.

12.. PARTNERS’ OTHER INTERESTS
s 2021
2022 Restated*
£ £

‘Partners? éurréntaccotnts
Af 1 January 98,655,679 92,183,194
‘Total comiprehensive income. for financial year 6,321:393
‘Capital,contribution 420,985

Dividenids paid ~ (15;500,000) -
At31 December N 89,898,057 :

Partners® current accounits-comprise solely the piofitorloss.of the Paithership:allocated to:the Partners; the ‘
distribiti fitmiade to the Partners,and the, capital coniribufed by the: partners in.accordance. with the téiths of
{he Deed of, Partnership. These are, therefore considered tobe equity.

¥ Prior, period:comparafivesihave beén réstatéd to fetlect the:cofréction o the-priot year accounting freatment-of the
loaiis dué to-partiers. Refer'to Note T for. further details:
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‘THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

13. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF:CASHFLOWS

(3} TReconciliation of operating profit/(loss) fo net cash inflow from operating activitiés

202Z 2021

£ £

Operating profit/(loss) before tax 12,947,290 10,795,339
Depreciation on fangible fixed assets 35,203 59,692,
Anortisationi of tenasit incentives . 2,105,557 2,527,113
Amortisation of capifal expenditire recoverablé froni teiitits: 1,547 29,730
:Change.in faifvalue of investment.property 1,687,362 (3,822,646),
‘Gain on derivative financial instraments. (6,739,623) (1:075,448)
Tncrease/(decreasé) iti:débtors 182,712 (14,460)
‘Inérease.in creditors 694,490 838,520
Amortisation of lodn issiié €osts - (279,897)
‘Léaii intéfest teceivable 52,260, =
‘Payments to fenants for lease incentives: (4,909;161) -
Net cash inflow from operatirig activities’ ' 6,057,637 9,057,943
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THE ASHFORD INVESTOR:LIMITED PARTNERSHIP:

13, NOTES:TO THE:STATEMENT OF:CASHFLOWS:
(b) Analysis of net debt

Restricted;cash balances haveinot'been included iithie iélosy table giver thiey, arenot availableifor use.

AtLJanuiry oo ‘Eapital ‘Changelin ‘Interestand  At:31 December
2022 Restafedt  Co movemnent comtribution hirkef valie.  finznce chiarges 2022
£ £ £ : £ £
‘Cash and,cash eq
Cash atbank:and in:Hanid: 14,301,171 €10070;128) - - 4,231,043
Dérivatives 239,626) - 6:739,623 - 6,499,997
Borrowings :
Barik loans- 199,954,756y . (2.561.643) - - (170,358)  (102;686:757)
Net.debt’before partners’ loans (85:893.211) - (17
Loans due to partners;
Bartriers” [oanis (41,081;800) (900,000) 420,985 - (25742,121)

Net debt (13,531,77.1) 420,985 6,739,623 (2,912:479)

#Equity balaricesswire-iiclided Within thenet debt discl i
capital fotalling £100,000 and Partners"cuirent:accoiintstotalling:£65,379,433
definition’ of borrowings:and so must be:excluded from the net debt disclosure. As such;the net debt asiat 1st Jahuary 2
amouiits.

..The,s,g. equity’balances |
SORP), ediiityitiow
2 hids been restated. above torémoveé these equity
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‘THE ASHFORD INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with investors with significant influence over the operations of the Limited Partnership have been
disélosed in the table:below:

The:Royal
London Staffordshire:
Mutual  Outlet Ashford County
Insurance  Holdings Sarl ‘Courieil.
Society Pensign Fund.
Liniited
£ £ £
Partiers? capital
At:31 December 2021 24,750 49,500 24,750
Advaiices of investor capital - - ;
At31 December 2022 24,750 49,500 24,750
Partners? loans
At 31 December 2021 Réstated* 10,275,706 20,551,216 10,254,878
Advaiices of investof 16ans 59,886 359,246 59,883
Unwinding of interest charge 685,283 1,370,742 686,096
At'31 December 2022 11,020,875 22,281,204 11,000,857
Partners’ Cuireiit A¢counts
At 31 December2021 Restated* 24,417,280 48;834,560 24,417:280
Profit shire 1,564,545 3,129,089 1,564,545
Capital contribution 52,614 315,754 52,617
Distributiotis to, partiers; (3,836,250) (7,672,500) (3,836,250)
At 31 December2022. 22,198,188 44,606,904 22,198,192
Totals
At31 December2021 Restated* 34,717,736 69,435,276 34,696,908
At31 Decernber 2022, 33,243,814 66,937,607 33,223,799

The Partnership.is administered by Ashford Investor (General Partner) Limited (the “General Partner”). The. partners
considet thit the General Partner is a related party: The General Partner has capital of £1,000 in the Partnership at 31
Décember2022 (2021: £1,000). The share of thé Partnership profit attributable to the General Partnei'was £63,214
forthe financial year-ended 31 December 2022 (2021: £50,889). The share of the Partnership current account
attributable to the-General Partner was £894,773 at 31 Decemiber-2022 (2021:£986,559). Distributions of £155,000
(2021: £nil) weré paid to the 'General Partner for the financial year-ended 31 December 2022. Theé Lititéd
Partnership paid costs of £nil (2021: £nil) on behalf of the General Partner for the financial year-ended 31 December
2022, D'uriri‘g the year, Ashford Investor (General Partner) Limited received VAT refunds totalling £264,078 (2021
£402 456) on behalf of the Limited Parmerstiip. At the year end, the Genéral Paitner owed £276,023 (2021:
£11,945) to the Limited Partnership. :

* Prior périod comparatives have been. restated to reflect the correction of the prior yéar accounting treatmént 6f the
loans due to partners, Refer to Note I for further details.
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THEASHFORD: INVESTOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP'

NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED),

14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

15.

Services:provided by propefty managér and dévélopineiit inanager (coritinuéd)

Thie Partivetship is;anaged by ihie Property Manager, McArthurGlen UK Limited, which is a related party: The
Partnership has paid. fees to-McArthurGlen UK Limited assetout below:

2022, 2021

£ £

Annual management fee 719,583 626,869
Letting fees 578,945 307:877
Service charge and marketing fees' 398,847 352,839
Othet recharges. 1;798.787 13861;75%

.At:31 Deceniber 2022 the-outstanding balance owed to McArthiutGlen UK Litnited was £780,487 (2021: £766,819).
McArthurGlen European Development Limiited; a related-party. involved. in the development:of Phase:2 of the
Ashford Designer Qutlet.Centre:as a Development:-Manager, charged the Paftnership developiméntand fifancing
‘fees amotintinigito £iil (20217 £78,710). At the yeit ed, the, Partnership owed £1,572:(2021: £nil) to- McArthurGlen,
‘Eurépean Developmetit Limited..

At31 December 2022, the:_parmershlp awed:£6,042 to'McArthurglen;Service GmbH; £3,514 fo!MGE-RB
(Roermond) Management ‘B.V; and £12; 279 to MGR: Management & Retail S.ri all:6f whoiti are telated parties.
idue to being 100% subsidiariés of" McArthurgIen UK Liinited..

UltimateiContiolling Party

Thé paitiners and theirintetests in the Partneiskip are disclosed within Note 1.2 6f the Notes to the Financial
Statemerits. No partnet individuallyhias:conirol.of the Parinership. The Parmership is.relafed to-the Propertyand
Development Managers, by virtue of the fact that McArthurGlen UK. Limited. and McArthurGleén Eiiropear.

‘Development Limited and joint veiitures 6f Simori Mac LLC «afd the Parthership is:an associate of Simon Mac LLC.

OPERATING LEASE AGREEMENT-WHERE: THE PARTNERSHIP IS LESSOR
“The Partriership’s:ifivestment propettyis fet to a nuniber of:third parties. These non-cancellable leases have
‘remainingiterms of between 0 and 11 years:

Future:minimum rentals receivable:undernon-cancellable opérating ieasés are as:follows:

- 2021

2022 Restated*

£ £

In:one yearorless; 8,947 844 7,799,158
Between ore and five'yeats 20,998,114 20,001,597
‘More than five years 6,431,024 7,823,149

36371983 35623.004
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15.

16.

17,

OPERATING LEASEAGREEMENT WHERE THE PARTNERSHIP IS LESSOR (CONTINUED)

* During the year a detailed review was catried out on the non-caricellableioperating leasés as at 3 [st Déceriber
2021. It was noted that-in instances where a lease agreement'stated a break date which was not caveated with a
condi'tlon on, the fenait ('eg tehant st generate a sbec{ﬁed' levei of‘ tumover), the non-cancellable operating | lease
balance sheet then thls lease should not generatea’ comnutment at the. balance sheet date for the Parmershxp It was
noted that this logic was not acciitdtely réflected in the figures. within the same disclosure for the financial statements
for the year'ended 3 ['st Decetnber 2021, Therefore the Geneéral Partner has recalculated the positior as at this daté
and restated:the, amounts accordingly.

POST BALANGE:SHEET EVENTS
Post year érid distributioiis were made. to partiiers totalling £1,250,000 (paid.6n 24th March 2023), £1,230,000 (paid
on 6th July'2023), and £1,500,000 (paid on 3td November 2023). No further distribufions were: imade post year énd

ﬁpf‘uﬁtpif the date-of signing of'the financial statements:

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Conitingent liabilities miay atise i respect ofthiird-patty claits made against the Partietship ifi.the normal coutse, of

‘trading. These ¢laims can include'those relating to the investriiént propefty: or injury related datages. Such ¢laims
-are predominanitly covered by the. Partnership’s insurance: arrangements. A provision for'such claims is only
‘tecoghnised to thé extent thit the Partmership has alégal o consthictive obligation as a résult of a past-event and it is
‘probable that an ouiflow of gconomic benefit will be reguired to settle the obligativn.

18: DISTRIBUTIONS

Disiributions made during the year were as follows:

2022 2021

£ £

Outlet Ashford Holdings Sarl. 7,672,500. -
The Royal London Mutyal Insurance Society Limited 3,836:250° -
‘Staffordshire County Council Péiision Fund 3,836,250 e
Ashford Investor (General Partner) Limited: , 155,000 . -
15,500,000 -

"Post year end distributions were made to pariners totalling £1,250,000 (paid on 24th March 2023), £1,250,000 (paid.

ot 6th Tuly:2023), and £1,500,000 (paid.on 3rd November 2023). No further distributions, were-made post year-end
up until the date of sighing of the financial Statererits:
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